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Be it enacted by the Senate, and House ot Representatives of

the United States ot America in Congress assembled, That

Andrew D. white, of Ithaca, in the State of New York;

George Bancrofl of Washington. in the District of

Columbia; Justm Winsor, of Cambridge. in the State of

Massachusetts; William F. Poole, ofChicago, in the State of

Illinois; Herbert B. idams, of Baltimore, in the State of

Man’hmd; Clarence W. Bowen, ofsrooklvn. in the State of

New Yo,’k, their associates and successors, are hereby created

in the District of cahanbia, a body corporate and politic, b’
the name of the American Historical Association, fir the

promotion of historical studies, the collection and

preservation of historical manuscripts, and fir kindred

purposes in the interest ofAmerican histon’ and ofhiseon’ in

A merica, Said Association is authorized to hold real and

personal estate in the District at Columbia sofit onb’ as may

be necessary to its lawful ends to an amount not excecdhi&five

hundred thousand ,lollars, to adopt a constitution, and to

make by—lan’s itot inconsistent with law. Said Association

shall have its principal office at Washington. in the District of

Columbia, and nay hold its annual meetings in such places as

the said hicorporators shall determine. Sa1JA oeiation shall

report annually to the Secretamy of the Smithsonian

Institution concerning its proceedings and the condition of

historical study in America. Saul Sectetamy shall

communicate to Congress the whole ofsuch reports, or such

portions thereof as lie shall see it. The Regents of the

Smithsonian institution are atithorized to pernut said

Association to deposit its collections, manuscripts, hooks,

pamphlets, and other material for histon’ in the Smithsonian

ltistitutiott or itt the National Museuttt at heir discretion,

upon such conditions and under such mules as they shall

prescribe. Approved an nags 1, tBSp.
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By Robert Darnton

H
istorians have enough
difficulties spotting trends in
the past, so they should shy

away from making pronouncements
about the present. Nonetheless, I think
the following report documents a
turning point in the history of the
American Historical Association. In 1999
the AHA reversed two years of deficits
and moved its finances decisively into a
healthier state. After a long search for a
new executive director, the Council
enthusiastically elected Arnita Jones, the
executive director of the Organization of
American Historians (OAH), to manage
the Association’s affairs. She moved into
office in late May and immediately set
an amicable tone and a brisk pace for
the business under way at the AHA
headquarters. Having managed itself
with remarkable effectiveness for the
previous four months, the staff breathed
a collective sigh of relief and settled into
a more sustainable rhythm of work.

With old business dispatched and the
books balanced, new projects could be
undertaken. A grant from the Ford
Foundation made possible a meeting of
community college teachers at the
Library of Congress to develop new
pedagogical approaches to regional
studies and world history. Teaching and
Learning in the Digital Age, a program to
improve introductory survey courses,
was developed in three state university
systems, thanks to support from the
National Endowment for the
Humanities. After smoothing out some
rough patches in its relations with its 105
affiliated societies, the AHA adopted
new policies governing their
participation in the annual meeting and
new modes of collaboration, including a
special listserv for e-mail discussions and
counseling about electronic publications.
The staff redesigned the Directory of
History Departnients and Organizations in
the United States and Canada. Although
the old version provided a basic guide to
the history profession as a whole, it did
not mention a significant proportion of

part-time, adjunct, and independent
historians and could not be used to
locate individuals and discover who was
working on specific subjects. A new
directory, published online, provides
information about 8,000 members of the
AHA and the topics of their research. We
now plan to publish a print version of
this individual directory as an addition
to the departmental directory and to use
it as a way of drawing a profile of the
profession at the start of the new century.

With help from a generous grant from
the Andrew W. Mellon Foundation, we
launched the Gutenberg-e program. It is
aimed at a critical point where problems
in library budgets, scholarly publishing,
and scholars’ careers all converge. By
organizing a prize competition for the
best dissertations in fields where
university presses have ceased
publishing monographs, it will help
beginning historians to overcome the
biggest hurdle in their careers. The prizes
are grants that must be used to convert
the dissertations into first-rate electronic
books. By helping the historians, the
program will promote a new form of
scholarly publication and set standards
for properly edited and peer-reviewed
work on the Internet. A distinguished
panel of judges selected the first winners
who were announced at the AHA
meeting in Chicago in January, and in
March the winners discussed the
problems and possibilities of electronic
publishing at a workshop organized by
Columbia University Press, which
should put out the first “e-books” at the
end of the year.

Meanwhile, Michael Grossberg and the
staff of the American Historical Reviezo
prepared to take a still greater leap
forward into cyberspace. After long
study and heavy bouts of skepticism,
they concluded that the AHR would
have to go online. But how? The
modalities triggered even longer debates.
An e-AHR could be designed in many
ways and linked to different online
organizations. In the end, Grossberg
recommended that the AHA join with
the OAH and two leaders in the field sn
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of electronic publishing, the University

of Illinois Press and the National

Academy Press, in a “History

Cooperative,” which would publish

history journals from its own web site. fri

contrast to other such arrangements, the

new site would be adapted to the needs

of historians and make possible all sorts

of experiments in the publication of

historical work. It will create a center of

scholarly gravity that will attract other

journals, all of them mutually accessible

and searchable, so that in a few years the

members of the AHA will have the entire

range of scholarly production available

at their fingertips. The (electronic) e-AHR

wilt not replace the (printed) p-Al-fR, but

rather will supplement it. In approving

the proposal, therefore, the Council did

not turn its back on the traditional

modes of scholarship; it faced up to new

possibilities and challenges. After long

negotiations, the lawyers agreed on the

fine print, the History Cooperative was

launched, and the first issue of the

e-AHR appeared online.

Two other initiatives also stood out

among the AHA’s activities in 1999. The
first involved a review of graduate

programs in history conducted by a

committee chaired by Cohn Palmer and

Thomas Bender. There is very little

information available about educational

issues that will determine the future

character of the profession—about the

time taken to earn a PhD, dropout rates,

employment patterns, training in

teaching, relations with secondary

schools and noneducational institutions,

and many other subjects, including the

content and goals of various graduate

programs. After some careful

reconnoitering, the committee

recommended that the AHA sponsor a

full-scale examination of graduate

training in history, not in order to come

up with prescriptive guidelines but to

make recommendations about ways of

dealing with the problems facing the

profession in the 21st century. It now

seems that funding will be found and

that this general review will soon begin.

The second initiative concerns the

critical situation of many independent,

part-time, and adjunct historians. Many

members of the AHA do not have full-

time jobs in institutions of higher

learning. Many of them are happily

employed in museums, state

associations, or federal agencies. But

many more struggle against difficult

circumstances. They are underpaid and

overworked, drifting from one part-time

job to another as colleges “downsize”

and rely increasingly on cheap labor. In

this case, too, systematic information is

lacking. President-elect Eric Foner led a

committee to do some preliminary

investigation. It came up with enough

material to justify another full-scale

review of the situation, which will

involve survey research as well as

cooperation with a similar project

sponsored by the Modern Language

Association.
Taken together, these two reviews

should provide us with the information

we need to see where the history

profession is headed and how we can

direct its course in the most

advantageous manner.
Whatever the future may hold, the

present looks propitious, at least for the

AHA if not for everyone in the
profession. Membership now stands at
about 15,000, a healthy increase over

previous years and one that is pointing

toward record heights. The budget for

the last fiscal year, which ended on June

30, 1999, ended with a surplus of nearly

$57,000. The surplus should be the same

in this fiscal year—not enormous,

considering the total operating

expenditures of $2,340,921, but a decisive

reversal of a slip into the red during

previous years. We are building up a
capital reserve, which should soon reach

our goal of $100,000. And our investment

portfolio (which includes the

endowment, prize funds, and other

restricted funds) increased last year by 20

percent to $4,163,171. The healthier state
of our finances makes it possible not

merely to repair leaks in the

headquarters building but also to expand

our pamphlet program, which has gone

up from about three to ten pamphlets a

year during the last decade, and to
further improve Perspectives, which has

nearly doubled in size and now enjoys a

reputation as a first-rate scholarly

publication in addition to its role as a

professional newsletter.

In order to make these innovations and

improvements, the AHA has had to

adopt policies of severe austerity. The

divisions and comntittees have been

restricted to one face-to-face meeting a

year and have had to transact the rest of

their business by e-mail, listservs, and

teleconferences. They will continue to

economize in this fashion, but it can be
hard. The Professional Division

conducted a punishing, six-hour meeting

by teleconference last year. They got the

job done and did it well, but they cannot

have many more meetings of that sort.

All the divisions, committees, and

subcommittees met throughout the year.

Their activities are detailed in the reports

that follow. As the reports demonstrate, it

was a year of business-as-usual as well as

a year of innovation. The ordinary

business of the Al-IA is the most
important—a matter of serving its

members, the profession, and the country

in hundreds of ways, day in and day out.

Among their many tasks, the staff of the

Al-Il? manage somehow to process 2,000
books submitted for review each year and

the staff of the Al-IA manage to

accommodate 4,500 historians at the
annual meeting. No report can do justice

to that labor, most of it hard work

performed by the highly skilled
professionals at 400 A Street and much of

it voluntary service supplied by historians

of all stripes throughout the country. I
cannot conclude without expressing my
gratitude to everyone who made 1999

such a fruitful year for the American

Historical Association—a year marked by

a bountiful harvest and by concerted

efforts to sow seeds for the future. •

Robert Darn ton (Princeton Univ.) was

president of the AHA for 1999.
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Executive Director Report

By Arnita A. Jones

L
et me begin my first annual report
by noting that the generally good
news conveyed below is primarily

the work of others. During the several
months of transition in the executive
director’s office last year, both staff and
elected officers of the Association shoul
dered unusually heavy burdens. The
good health in which I now report finding
the AHA is due to their efforts.
Membership continues to grow, with a
year-end high of 14,210 individuals and
the 1998—99 fiscal year ended with a sur
plus of $56,948. Although tins figure rep
resents a relatively small percentage of
our $2,340,921 total operating expendi
hire, it reflects the efforts of staff and vol
unteers who work hard at keeping costs
to a minimum and increasing revenues
from sources other than membership
dues. Our endowment fund, invested
with Fiduciary Trust International in New
York, is also doing well with a market
value of $4,014,308. (see auditors’ report
starting on page 25). Outside support
from the Carnegie Foundation for the
Advancement of Teaching, the Ford
Foundation, the Mellon Foundation, the
National Endowment for the Humanities,
and the Spencer Foundation has allowed
us to leverage our resources to bring spe
cial services and programs to our tradi
tional and new constituencies.

Membership

The Association’s membership base
grew for the third year in a row, and

is now approaching the levels enjoyed in
the early part of this decade. As indicated
in Table 1, the membership of the
Association on March 31, 1999 (the date
on which we traditionally take the statisti
cal snapshot), was 14,210, which is higher
than it was in all but three years in the
past two decades (Table 2).

A significant part of the improvement
has come through improved retention of
current members (just over 93 percent) as
well as continued efforts to reach and
attract new members, particularly
through the World Wide Web site, which

accounted for more than 600 new mem
bers over the past yeat Changes in spe
cific categories might suggest significant
losses from the “graduate student” and
“over $20,000” categories; but closer
analysis shows that most of the change
came from shifts into higher dues levels,
perhaps thanks to improvements in the
financial situation of many of our mem
bers.

In 1999 the Association added a new
service; the Member Services Program,
which allows members to subscribe to the
other AHA publications including the
pamphlets and the Directory. This has
proven to be quite popular and received
over 449 subscribers in the first seven
months.

The news is not so positive in the area of
institutional subscriptions, which con
tinue to contract as libraries drop their
subscriptions to the Al-Il? (Table 3). The
lament from librarians is that much more
expensive journals for the science, tech
nology, and medical fields are squeezing
out worthy publications in the humanities
and social sciences.

Advocacy and Representation

The AHA works closely with the
National Coordinating Committee for

the Promotion of History (NCC), directed
by Page Putnam Miller, to ensure continu
ing access to historical resources and the
institutions that house them. This year,
the NCC’s most important activities
included lobbying for sufficient appropri
ations for the National Archives and the
National Historical Publications and
Records Commission, influencing legisla
tion on digital copyright policies and dis
tance learning, and pressing for
declassification of federal documents. The
AHA also joined in lawsuits for the
release of grand jury records relating to
the indictment of Alger Hiss and for the
preservation of digital records in federal
departments. Finally, the Association’s
Research Division communicates with
public officials to further the interests of
historians and the historical record.

The Association participates in a grow
ing community of nonprofit associations n

4 AHA Annual Report • 1999



that focuses on higher education and cul

tural issues. We are members of the
National Humanities Alliance, which lob

bies on behalf of the National
Endowment for the Humanities and also

monitors certain programs of the
Department of Education and other

issues. The Consortium of Social Science

Associations serves as an advocate for the
National Science Foundation and other

federal agencies (such as the Department

of Justice, the Bureau of Labor Statistics,
the Office of Education Research, the
National Institute of Health, and the

Census Bureau) that run programs of

interest to scholars doing social science
research.

The Al-TA is also an active member of
the American Council of Learned
Societies (ACLS). This consortium, which

dates back to 1919, offers both a vehicle
for sharing information among profes

sional associations similar to our own and

programs that are frequently of particular
interest to historians. I have attended two

meetings related to the ACLS’s current
initiative on electronic monographs—the
HistorE Book Project, a series of original
monographs that will be published first in

digital form. Electronic publication of a
backlist of complementary published

works is also a part of this project.
I have also represented the Association

at several meetings dealing with pro
grams for data collection on human and
material resources in the humanities.
These include the American Academy of
Arts and Sciences’ “Initiative for the
Humanities and Culture,” which aims to
promote research on the humanities and
to encourage a wider discussion of the

role of the humanities in American life;

the new Washington Center for Arts and

Culture, which explores humanities poi

icy issues; and Imagining America, an
official partner of the White House
Millennium Council that seeks to create a

new national consortium of universities
and cultural institutions dedicated to sup
porting public work in the arts and
humanities.

Participation in the Coalition on the

Academic Workforce, a group of iiii

Table 1. Membership status report
(as of March 31, 1999)

MembershipType 7996 1997 1998 1999

Contributing
Over $70,000
Over $55,000
Over $45,000
Over $35,000
Over $20,000
Under $20,000
Students
K-i 2 Members
K-i 2 Members with Review
Associate Members
Joint Spouse/Partner

27

876 845 982 1,122
944 929 1,102 1,144

1,048 1,013 1,105 1,169

1,835 1,746 1,958 2,010

1,689 1,582 1,664 1,565

1,398 1,795 2,311 2,329

4,233 3,543 3,108 2,906

155 116 154 160

162 154 181 228

798 771 807 782

226 177 208 213

Subtotal 73,364 72,677 73,580 13,655

464 484 457 418

98 149 132 109

21 21 15 16

5 1 1

3.4 .1.4 6 32

Subtotal 602 669 611 555

73,966 73,340 74,197 14,270

732 2222 i45 232
Total 14,719 15,632 15,236 15,122

Life Member

Fifty Year
Honorary
Trustee
Other Members

Total Paying
& Non-Paying Members

Delinquent Members

Table 2. Twenty-year trend: Active and Dues-paying members, 1979—99

16.000

10,000

14,000

13,000

12,000

11,000

10.000

1979 1980 1981 1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999

I] Number of active members (inc. Life, 5Oyear, and Honorary) • Annual Dues Paying Members
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Executive Director’s Report contm uedfrom the previous page

professional and higher education—related
organizations that addresses the problems
of part-time and off-ladder employment,
has been a particular priority for the
AHA.

in addition to stimulating a joint survey
that has been funded in part by the
National Endowment for the Humanities,
the coalition has begun working with
regional accrediting associations to deter
mine whether their current practice in
higher education conforms with accredit
ing associations’ goals and whether those
goals can be strengthened.

Property and Infrastructure

Because the AHA owns outright a dou
ble townhouse just one block east of

the Library of Congress, it enjoys rent-free
headquarters space in an enviable loca
tion. The building has recently undergone
an extensive interior renovation.
However, substantial work—such as win
dow replacement, repainting of brick
work on at least two exterior walls,
repairs to the heating/cooling system and
exterior painting—still needs to be done
to maintain this 19th-century building in
sound condition. Over the course of the
summer and fall we made emergency
repairs to the exterior walls and have
installed a security system which, in case
of fire, will directly alert the local fire
department.

We have partially implemented and are
continuing to test new software that links
the membership and business office data
bases so that we can complete the
Association’s transition to an accrual
accounting system.

Also, though we are now on a regular
schedule for replacement of computers
used by individual staff members, we
may require a major upgrade to the sys
tem that houses our membership records.
As we make increasing demands on our
membership information system—the
online membership database, for exam
ple, that seems to be extraordinarily pop
ular—the need for extra “space” will have
to be addressed. We also anticipate hav
ing to devote additional resources to our
web site.

Publications

Qur major publication remains the
American Historical Review (see page

15 for editor Michael Grossberg’s annual
report on the AHR). By year’s end we had
largely completed contract negotiations
with the University of Illinois Press, the
National Academy Press, and the OAH’s
Journal ofAmerican History for a new
History Cooperative that has begun to
publish an electronic version of the AHR.
The AHR’s future as an online publica
tion, however, has serious implications
for the future of the Association, raising
issues of intellectual property as well as of
membership stability. Accordingly, the
AHR has occupied a considerable amount
of time of the Washington staff, and also
of a special committee of the AHA.

In accordance with its responsibihty to
review the performance of the American
Historical Review editor every five years,
the Research Division conducted a review
of current editor Michael Grossberg. A
special committee found Crossberg’s
work exemplary and unanimously recom
mended renewal of his contract. The com
mittee noted that the journal was
flourishing under Grossberg’s direction
and that his managerial policies and
vision for the journal were superlative.

Perspectives has grown substantially in
recent years to meet members’ needs for
information on professional, advocacy,
and other issues. A new column was
launched this year to serve the needs of
graduate students in history. Publishing
some components of Perspectives on our
web site—job ads, for example, and some
articles—has proven attractive to a num
ber of readers and we continue to con
sider what is the best mixture of
print/online publication. During 1999 the
AHA’s web site expanded to include job
listings updated weekly, an online mem
bership directory, listings of doctoral dis
sertations in progress, and a wide variety
of other resources for teachers and gradu
ate students.

The rest of the publications program
enjoyed similar growth, with 11 new titles
pubhshed over the past 12 months,
including five new pamphlets in the

AHA’s headquarters building on
Capitol Hill, at 400 A Street in
Southeast Washington, D.C.
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Essays on Global and Comparative
History series (Nomads and Sedentary
Societies in Medieval Eurasia by Peter B.

Golden, The Silk Road: Overland Trade and

Cultural interactions in Eurasia by Xinru

Liu, The Peoples and Civilizations of the
Americas before Contact by John E. Kicza,
Women in Ancient Civilizations by Sarah

Shaver Hughes and Brady Hughes, and

Finding Buddhists in Global History by
Jonathan S. Walters); two new pamphlets

in the Teaching Diversity series (Teaching

Immigration of People of Color to the United

States by David Reimers and Teaching U.S.

Puerto Rican History by Virginia Sanchez
Korrol); and three collections of popular

essays from Perspectives (Perspectives on
Audiovisuals and the Teaching of History,
Perspectives on Teaching Innovations:

Teaching to Think Historically, and
Perspectives on Teaching Innovations: World

and Global History).
The AHA now has some 75 pamphlets

in print, sales of which brought in

$87,546 during the last fiscal year. More
than 30 new and revised editions have
been commissioned or are in various
stages of production, a substantial com
mitment of both staff time and the largely
volunteer work of our members, espe
cially members of the Committees on
Women and on Minority Historians, as
well as the Teaching Division.

The Association has had great success
in publishing and supporting new
sources of information about the histori

cal profession. Last year’s Directory of
History Departments and Organizations
included more than 800 departments and
historical organizations. The Al-IA has
also collaborated with severat of its affili

ated societies to publish additional direc
tories of information, including
Community College Historians in the United
States with the OAR and the Community
College Humanities Association, and the
Directory of Federal Historical Programs
with the Society for History in the Federal

Government.

Annual Meeting

The program put together under the

leadership of co-chairs John Voll of

Georgetown University
and Gary Kulik of the
Winterthur Museum
attracted approximately
4,500 registrants for the
1999 annual meeting in
Washington, D.C. which
emphasized the theme of
“Migrations and
Diasporas in History.”
Taking advantage of the
many institutions in the
city of interest to histori
ans, the Program
Committee also
arranged a number of
off-site sessions and tar
geted a number of ses
sions toward teaching
and professional issues.
As always, the annual
meeting also served as a
location for interviews
relating to professional
positions for historians.
At the 1999 annual meet
ing 690 historians signed
up for the Job Register,
down from 777 in 1998,
while employers inter
viewed for 243 positions,
the largest number
recorded in 10 years.

Prizes, Fellowships, and Grants

The Research Division administers the
AHA’s many fellowships, research

grants, and prizes. The Association spon
sors two research fellowships, the

Jameson Fellowship in American History
with the Library of Congress, and the
NASA Fellowship in Aerospace History
funded by the National Aeronautics and
Space Administration. The Jameson
Fellowship for 1998—99 was awarded to
Patrick J. Rael, an assistant professor at
Bowdoin College. Professor Rael used his
fellowship at the Library of Congress to
research a book-length study of black

public speech in the northern states from

the 1820s to the start of the Civil War.

Hugh R. Slotten, who earned his doctor

ate in the history of science from the

and Memberships
(as of Match 31, 1999)

Institutional Subscriptions

Institutional Services Program

(ISP) Memberships

University of Wisconsin in 1991, received
the NASA fellowship. The fellowship will
support Slotten’s research on the intro
duction of international satellite teclmol
ogy resulting from the Satellite Act of
1962 and the development of cable televi
sion in the 1970s and 1980s. The
Association also continues its active pro
gram of awarding small research grants in
a variety of areas (see page 23).

The AHA, which already supports a
total of 21 book prizes in various fields, is
pleased to announce the institution of two
new book prizes. The AHA Prize in
Atlantic History, funded by a generous

donation by James A. Rawley (Carl

Adolph Rappold Professor of History
Emeritus, Univ. of Nebraska), was offered
for the first time in 1999. The prize will
reward outstanding historical liii,

Table 3. Institutional Subscriptions

Class 1997 1998 7999

Class I
Class I (Agency)

Class II
Class II (Agency)

375 122 132

2,650 2,553 2601

Subtotal Class I 3,025 2,675 2,733

93 62 63

596 820 610

Subtotal Class II 689 882 673
Total 3,714 3,557 3,406

Class I: Receives the Review only
Class II: Receives the Review, Perspectives, and Program

7997 1998 1999

Category I
(PhD program with 21 or more faculty)
Category II
(PhD program with less than 21 faculty
Category Ill
(MA program)
Category IV
(Undergraduate program only)
Category V
(Two-year college program only)
Category VI
(Libraries. Historical ottices/sooeties,
research institutions)

95 90 88

44 45 50

137 140 139

252 250 252

5 10 11

75 74 72

Total 608 609 612
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ExecutIve D irectors Report continuedfrom the previous page

writing that explores aspects of the inte
gration of Atlantic worlds before the 20th
century. Second, the George L. Mosse
Prize was awarded for the first time at the
2000 annual meeting. This prize,
endowed by former students, colleagues,
and friends of the late George L. Mosse,
will be awarded to a major work in the
intellectual and cultural history of Europe
since the Renaissance.

On the initiative of President Robert
Darnton, a major prize program was
launched by the AHA in 1999 to help
transform dissertations (in select fields)
into electronic monographs. Under this
program, six Gutenberg-e Prizes will be
awarded each year for a period initially of
three years. The program is supported by
a generous grant from the Andrew W.
Mellon foundation and with the collabo
ration of Columbia University Press. The
first six winners were announced at the
2000 annual meeting of the Association.

The Divisions

The three divisions of the
Association—Professional, Research,

and Teaching—have been active as ever,
helping to shape and implement AHA
policies. The vice presidents describe the
details of their divisions’ work in their
annual reports. I will briefly touch upon
some of the items and issues.

The Research Division produced a doc
ument outlining “best practices” in histor
ical research across a range of academic
institutions. The document emphasizes
the centrality of research in the teaching
of history. In May, the AHA Council
approved the document, and we look for
ward to publishing it soon in Perspectives
and online. We hope the document will
provoke discussion of the role of research
in the historical profession.

The Research Division continued its
efforts to bring the Association into
collaboration with other organizations.
In conjunction with the Library of
Congress and the Community College
Humanities Association, the AFIA is par-

ticipating in a project titled “Globalizing
Regional Studies.” This initiative, funded
by the Ford Foundation, seeks to bring
together community college teachers to
discuss the world history curriculum. fri
summer 1999 teachers from across the
country assembled in Washington, D.C.,
for a three-week seminar at the Library of
Congress and then followed up in the fall
semester with various dissemination
activities at their campuses. The evalua
tion process for the Phase I effort has
begun, along with planning for a major
international conference to be held in the
spring of 2001.

The work of the Teaching Division dur
ing the past year focused on the develop
ment of several print and electronic
publications as well as collaborative
efforts with several other associations,
foundations, and institutions. Three pam
phlets based on previous Perspectives arti
cles relating to “Teaching Innovations:
Teaching World History,” “Thinking
Historically,” and “Teaching Media and
Images” have been initiated.

The division has also given serious
attention to maintaining its close working
relationship with the Perspectives con
tributing editor for teaching, which has
served the Association so well during the
term of David Trask. The teaching divi
sion has made specific recommendations
to the Council to that end.

The division continued to sponsor ses
sions focused on teaching for the annual
meeting. In 1999 workshops, “Teaching
United States History: Politics and
Culture of the 1930s” and “Teaching
World History: thn Battuta and the 14th
Century” were held.

A conference funded by the Spencer
foundation and the Carnegie Foundation
for the Advancement of Teaching on
“Teaching, Learning, and Knowing
History” was the product of a joint effort
between Carnegie Mellon University and
the Teaching Division. Bringing together
history education specialists from the
United States and abroad, the conference

focused on new research on how students
learn history and considered models for
changes that might benefit history teach
ing. New York University Press is pub
lishing the proceedings of the conference.

The Association’s role in financial and
other support of the work of the National
History Education Network (NHEN) is
also overseen by the Teaching Division.
During the past year NHEN Director
Loretta Lobes worked closely with the
U.S. Department of Education on the
Comprehensive Social Studies
Assessment Project to review and edit his
tory assessment items for this cooperative
effort of 22 states, the Council of Chief
State School Officers, and American
College Testing. Lobes also worked with
member organizations of the network to
develop 13 history content panels for the
National Council for the Social Studies
meeting in Orlando, Florida, in
November 1999, as well as sessions on
history teaching at annual meetings of
other member organizations.

The Professional Division continues to
actively deal with policy issues impinging
upon the historical profession as well as
specific problems and complaints that
may have been referred to the division. In
1999, the division concerned itself espe
cially with the problems of part-time
teachers and with hiring procedures. The
division also deliberated on several com
plaints brought to the Association under
the Statement on Standards of Professional
Conduct.

In conclusion, the year in review has
been eventful, marked as it was with sev
eral transitions and the many significant
new ventures on which the AHA has
embarked. We enter 2000 with a sense of
optimism that the AHA is well positioned
to address the many challenges and
opportunities that the coming years will
present.

Arnita Jones is the executive director of the
AHA.
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Report ofthe Research DIvIsIon

By Stanley N. Katz

T
his is my third and last report as vice president
of the Research Division. I want to take this

opportunity to say what an interesting chal

lenge the office has been. It has taken much more

time than I had imagined, and I encourage friends to

beware when the Nominating Committee calls. These

jobs are not merely honorific. The past three years

have been difficult ones at times, during which the

Council and officers have had to make hard deci

sions. Some of them were distinctly not inn. But these

have been years during which we renovated the

headquarters building and began a number of new

projects that I believe will be significant in moving
the work of the Association forward. I thank the
membership for the opportunity to participate in this

way.
Undoubtedly the most significant development this

year for the Research Division has been our progress

on the e-AHR. As I reported last year, the RD has been

working with editor Michael Grossberg for some time

on the decision to begin simultaneous publication of

the Review online. We had an excellent ad hoc commit

tee to advise the division in this matter, but mainly it

has been Mike Grossberg’s good judgment and hard

work that have carried the process forward. from the

outset, Mike was determined to achieve several objec

fives—to maintain the same high quality online as in

the analog journal, to create a historically rich and
usable database, to preserve access for all members of

the Association, and to serve the interests of the entire
historical community. This led us to begin working

with the OAH and the Journal of American History,

which had also decided to go online, so that we could

be sure that we were building a database that con
tained at least the two U.S. historical journals with the
largest circulation.

As I write, we are (I hope!) on the verge of complet
ing a negotiation with a major academic publisher to

create a collective of historical journals (in this coun

try and abroad) online. The basic principle is that all

the journals that join should have an equal role with

the AHR and the JAH in setting technical policies for

the presentation of online historical journals, and for

access to them. If we succeed (and we will, now or

later) we will have created a resource for historical

research and teaching that is unparalleled in its prom

ise for the profession. Initially there will be little dif

ference between the analog and online editions, but

the hyperlinking and multimedia possibilities of the
digital medium will soon produce articles with links,

images, sound, and perhaps even video that are

simply not possible to produce in print. I, for one,

think this will produce a revolution in historical pres

entation in coming generations, though I am sure that

the revolution will not occur overnight.

The digital environment was very much at the core

of other RD activities as well. The most important of

these is the c-dissertation prizes project (Gutenberg-c)

conceived and pioneered by our past president, Bob

Darnton—and you have read much about this in the

pages of Perspectives. Bob and I, along with the execu

tive directors, also served as AHA representatives to

the ambitious c-monograph project of the American

Council of Learned Societies (ACLS). This effort, also

funded by the Andrew W. Mellon Foundation, con

sists of the ACLS in consortium with five member his

torical associations to produce as many as 80 new, and

300 backlisted, historical monographs online. We

hope that many of these will be written by senior his

torians in order to help legitimize the electronic

monograph (and in that way to support the

Gutenberg-c effort). But the main point, from my per

spective, is that both the journals and monograph

projects will very quickly produce a relatively huge

database of historical literature, which (along with

JSTOR) will enable searching of a kind historians have

never before been able to do.

The process should be helped along by a conceptual

project the AHA has joined in collaboration with the

National Initiative for a Networked Cultural Heritage

(NINCH). We hope that this project, which encom

passes several different working groups in diverse

fields of the humanities and social sciences, will help

to think through the implications of the transition to

the digital environment. We will be part of a NINCH

history working group. All of these efforts will help us

inaugurate a new age of historical research and

teaching.
The RD continued its more traditional work as well.

We are responsible for oversight of the crucial work of

the Program Committee in planning the annual meet

ing. I want specially to thank Claire Moses and James

Henretta for their work on the 2000 meeting in

Chicago. Michael Bernstein and Barbara Hanawalt for

the excellent work they are already doing for the 2001

Boston meeting, whose theme will be “Practices of

Historical Narrative.” Phillipa Levine and Paul Ropp

will chair the 2002 Program Committee. The RD rec

ommeided and the Council accepted several changes

in the conduct of the Annual Meeting, the most

important of which were to increase opportunities for

informal exchange and to increase participation by

more senior members of the profession. iii,
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Research Division’s Report con tin uedfrom the previous page

The RD also recommended changes that the Council
has approved for the nomination of honorary foreign
members. The division was concerned to secure more
nominations, and to evaluate nominees in a more
appropriate fashion. We are pleased to note that this
year’s winner, Hans-Ulrich Wehier (Universitat
Bielefeld), addressed the plenary session of the 2000
annual meeting.

The division has also been much concerned with the
question of AHA book prizes. We are gratified that the
list of prizes continues to expand, but we have had
some concerns.

One has been the length of the presentation period
at the Friday evening session preceding the presiden
tial address. The program has been shortened a little
by discontinuing the practice of reading aloud all the
book prize citations (which continue to appear in the
General Meeting Booklet). But Council and the divi
sion are grappling with ways of further shortening
this part of the program.

We have also been desirous of encouraging potential
donors to support the work of younger scholars by
means of funds for publication subvention, and to
ensure that unnecessarily duplicative prizes are not
established. One way to do this is to try to make sure
that each prize will generate a sufficiently large nomi
nation pooi to guarantee the distinction of winners. To
this end, we proposed and Council approved changes
in the guidelines for book prizes.

The RD continues to work with other scholarly asso
ciations on a number of important issues. Perhaps the
best example of this is our work with the American
Association of University Professors on the impact of
Institutional Review Boards (IRBs) on historical
research. IRBs are the organizations established by
statute at research institutions of higher education to
monitor human subject experimentation for compli
ance with federal regulatory norms. Many historians
do not realize that historical interviewing comes
under the guidelines, and that historians proposing to
do such interviewing must subject themselves to
approval by their IRB. Luckily, one of the RD mem
bers (and also a Council member), Linda Shopes, is a
former president of the Oral History Association. The
RD had worked with her and the OHA even before
she was elected to the Council, and this year she per
formed yeoman service not only in advising the divi
sion, but also in representing the division and the
Association at a national meeting aimed at clarifying
the role of historical interviewing with an aim to
encourage IRBs to treat history in a more understand
ing manner.

The RD is also responsible for the oversight of the
AHA’s advocacy efforts. In this arena we have always
worked hand-in-hand with the National Coordinating
Committee (NCC), whose first director was in fact the
AHA’s new executive director, Amita Jones. But for
nearly 20 years Page Putnam Miller has led the NCC
with skill, courage, and a keen diplomatic sense. Page
Miller’s work has been so outstanding, and so valu
able to the Association that the RD recommended her
to the Professional Division last year for the Troyer
Steele Anderson Prize for outstanding contributions
to the AHA. We are enormously gratified that she is
the co-winner of that prize. We have worked with
Page closely on a variety of issues. Perhaps the most
recurrent and important has been monitoring activi
ties of the National Archives, particularly with refer
ence to the handling of the electronic records of the
federal government. We have also worked on issues
such as the declassification of federal records, the dis
position of the Nixon presidential papers, and on mat
ters of copyright legislation. I cannot exaggerate the
quality and amount of work that Page (a one-person
organization) has accomplished over the years. Alas,
Page is retiring this year. Her successor, Bruce Craig,
is highly qualified for the job. But it will take many
years for him to match her experience, contacts, and
judgment. I will personally miss my own association
with her at NCC, which goes back to the time she
started in the job. I would be remiss, though, if I did
not also acknowledge the terrific work done by the
executive director of the National Humanities
Alliance, John Hammer. The AHA has been a key
member of NHA from its start in 1980, and the
Alliance has always been key to our relations with
NEH and with humanities-related legislation.

Finally, let me bid adieu to Barbara Maloney and
Lmnn Shapiro. Barbara has been one of the most active
and committed members of the RD throughout her
term. And Linn was our devoted, efficient and consci
entious staff person for a couple of years before her
recent appointment as executive director of the D.C.
Council for the Humanities. She did many wonderful
things for the division, most particularly drafting the
“best practices” document on research in history
which the Council has approved, and which will be
released this yeat I am personally beholden to her for
her help and friendship.

And so, dear colleagues, I bid you adieu and return
to mere membership in an Association I have valued
for nearly 40 years.

Stanley N. Katz (Princeton Univ.) zoas the vice president
of the AHA’s Research Division from 1997 to 2000.
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Report oft/ic TeachIng DIvIsIon

By Leon fink

J
t has been a pleasure to preside over
the multiple activities of the Teaching
Division during the second year of my

three-year term. Overall, the division has
deepened its involvement in the area of
K—12 collaboration—or, as we now prefer
to say, in the K—16 continuum of history
education—even as it has attended to
several other important matters.

In response to the perceived crisis in
public education, we set out two years ago
to explore and highlight the interconnec
tions of academic historians and the
schools. In the interim we have learned
much about the current lay of the land and
begun to connect heretofore isolated
efforts into a more coordinated and better
recognized initiative. In the first place, we
now have a web site up and running on
current collaborative enterprises involving
teacher education. As a recent article in
Perspectives by William Weber makes clear,
these initiatives generally divide between
institutionalized degree-oriented pro
grams coordinated through history
departments, and professional develop
ment projects for in-service teachers coor
dinated variously by universities,
two-year colleges, or public history insti
tutions such as museums and government
agencies. Two sessions at the 2000 annual
meeting touch on the twin faces of creative
collaboration: a session on new
approaches to training social studies
teachers organized by the National
Council for History Education (NCHE)
and a roundtable drawing on three cre
ative examples of professional develop
ment activity. These sessions, together
with a rich mixture of other teaching-
related activities, supplement the divi
sion’s experiment in presenting master

teachers at work. Following on last year’s
teaching workshops led by Peter Filene
and Ross Dunn (assisted in each case by
secondary-school teachers from their
home districts), the Chicago meeting fea
tured workshops on urban history with

Janice Reiff and comparative consumerism

with former Teaching Division Vice

President Peter Stearns. Joint sponsorship

of the teaching workshops by the AHA
Task force on Graduate Education, the
Coordinating Council for Women in
History, and the National History
Education Network (NHEN) as well as the
division testifies to the importance we
place on spreading the gospel of creative
teaching—based on solid scholarship—to
as broad an audience as possible. To fur
ther highlight such efforts, the ID, acting
through NHFN, has submitted a proposal
to the NEH for a National History
Project—a multisite effort at professional
development for teachers coordinated ini
tially around the theme of “Revolutions in
History” From such efforts, we hope to
make the AHA a beacon for a professional
community of history teachers that spans
traditional boundaries.

There are, in fact, several other ways that

we are trying to use our professional pres
ence to good effect in the schools. With the
aim of bringing larger resources to bear on

a common problem, we have cordially
invited both the NCHE and the National
Council for the Social Studies (NCSS) to
become AHA affiliates. Meanwhile, we
have already positively responded to an
overture from the NCSS to arrange several
sessions at their annual meeting, and TD
member Nupur Chaudhuri (working in
concert with NHEN director Loretta
Lobes) will help to coordinate a larger
overture to the NCSS. Recognizing that
more and more trained historians are find
ing their way into the secondary schools-
both public and private—we have
authorized fellow TD-er Ron Briley to edit
a pamphlet on K—12 teaching as a career
option for graduate students.

We are convinced that our directed ener
gies can have a positive impact on the
standards of instruction within our
nation’s classrooms. For example, we
believe that secondary-school history text
books-likely the most widely dissemi
nated materials of formal instruction in the
discipline—should come more directly
under the critical purview of professional
historians. To that end, the ID has pro
posed that the Association experiment

with a variety of review venues for high
school textbooks in U.S. and world

One of the many teaching-oriented
pamphlets that the AHA publishes.

TEACHING DIVERSII

C
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Teach lug Division’s Report con tin uedfrom the previous page

history. We are also using the good offices
of the Association to publicize the need for
graduate student as well as faculty graders
for Advanced Placement exams—particu
larly for the U.S. field. Likewise, we stand
ready to assist the National Assessment of
Educational Progress (NAEP)—whose
subject-based assessments are often
referred to as “the nation’s report card”—
in the creation of the first NAEP world his
tory framework. Finally, the TD has
remained vigilant in”encouraging” (some
matters require diplomatic niceties) indi
vidual states not to weaken history
instruction while devising new cross-disci
plinary social studies standards.

While the above matters—all to some
extent focused on the “great continuum”
from K—12 through higher history educa
hon and teaching—have attracted much
effort from the TD in the past year, they
have hardly monopolized our attention.
Other projects, however, I shall mention
only briefly. To encourage higher stan
dards in graduate teaching, we welcome
the forthcoming publication of Terry Seip’s
pamphlet, “We Shall Gladly Teach.” The
division takes keen interest in the efforts of
the Association’s two ad-hoc committees:
to this end we have assigned Nadine Hata
as our liaison to the Committee on
Graduate Education and Maxine Lune as
our representative to the Committee on
Adjunct and Part-time Historians.

We are also currently connected to three
foundation-related projects: the NEH
funded project on the survey course in the
digital age; Shaping the Preparation of
Future Humanities and Social Science
Faculty with the Council for Graduate
Schools and the Association of American
Colleges and Universities; and the PEW-
funded Quality of Undergraduate
Education with the Education Trust. In
addition a seed grant from the American
Association for Higher Education aided
the division in completing several of its
projects during the past year.

Two new ideas, each with potentially
larger programmatic implications for the
Association, have also received recent vet
ting in division discussions. The first con
cerns an initiative towards faculty in

two-year institutions, effectively the sleep
ing giant of American higher education.
Beginning at the Chicago annual meeting,
Nadine Hata organized a focus group to
study community college issues. A special
web page for community college matters
is also under consideration. To make sure
that these issues remain on the front
burner the division has endorsed the need
for a permanent community college slot
on the TD. The other idea, still in its earli
est stage of gestation, concerns the possi
bility of the AHA acting as an agent of
certification for history departments. Such
an enhanced role, it has been argued,
might make it possible to set professional
standards in such areas as the hiring of
part-time teachers, conventions of distance
learning, or even the number of courses or
students assigned to a instructor per
semester load. At this point, the division
wants simply to raise the issue of accredi
tation within the wider councils of the
Association.

Penultimately, the division has a recom
mendation to improve the decision-mak
ing structure of the Association. It is
obvious that even as the president and
president-elect of the AHA play crucial
leadership roles for the profession, much
of the creative activity of the AHA takes
place within its three federated branches,
or divisions. Connection between the busi
ness of the divisions and the Council, we
believe, would be vitally enhanced by the
presence of the president-elect at at least
one divisional meeting per year.

Finally, the division wishes to pay spe
cial tribute to K—12 representative, Ron
Briley, for a most distinguished three-year
service to the Association. Ron has
brought practical wisdom, limitless
energy, and gentle humor to our delibera
tions for which we are most grateful. I can
not close without also honoring the
consistently superlative efforts rendered
the division by AHA staff Noralee Frankel
and Frances Lilly—the staff is truly the
invisible hand guiding this enterprise. •

Leon Fink (Harvard Univ.) is vice president
of tile AHA’s Teaching Division.
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Report ofthe ProfessIonal DIvIsIon

By Barbara D. Metcalf

T
he constitution of the Association
charges the Professional Division
with responsibility for collecting

and disseminating information about
employment opportunities and helping
to ensure equal opportunities for all his
torians, regardless of individual mem
bership in the Association.
Implementing these directives, the divi
sion oversees the rights and responsibili
ties of historians, including the review of
complaints brought to the Association
under the Statement on Standards of
Professional Conduct; the job market,
including the Employment Information
section of Perspectives and the Job
Register at the Annual Meeting; the sta
tus of women and minorities in the pro
fession; the collection and analysis of
data on the profession; membership
recruitment and retention; and prizes for
professional service. The divisions pro
vided for in the AHA constitution are
the major units for the development of
recommendations of policy to the gov
erning Council, and are designed to pro
vide the Council with information,
advice, and proposals in connection
with subjects or areas of concern
assigned to them by the Council.

During 1999 the division included, in
addition to myself, Leila Fawaz (Tufts
Univ.), who has now concluded her term;
James Grossman (Newberry Library);
Marilyn Young (New York Univ.); and
Charles Zappia (San Diego Mesa
Community Coil.). Allen Isaacman (Univ.
of Minnesota) is the division’s newly
elected member. Division members bring
a variety of experiences to their responsi
bilities and are currently based in private
and public universities, a community col
lege, and a research library. Sharon K.
Tune, assistant director, administration,
serves as staff to the division, providing
historical memory, skills as an attorney,
and steady good judgment. The division
also benefits greatly from the guidance of
Albert 1. Beveridge III, legal counsel of
the Association.

As has been the case since its develop
ment in 1987, the Professional Division
devoted considerable time and energy to
hearing complaints and providing infor
mal advice under the policies and proce
dures in the AHA’s Statement on Standards
of Professional Conduct. In so doing, we try
to provide a service to our colleagues
with specific problems, but we also
believe that the issues brought to us pro
vide insight into issues of professional
concern that we then are able to publi
cize, raise for general discussion in ses
sions of the annual meeting, and, as
appropriate, bring to the AHA Council
for consideration. During this past year
the division reached findings in four
cases (two of which involved multiple
parties). A striking three of the four cases
involved allegations of plagiarism. In
addition, the division at its fall meeting
accepted for full review three additional
cases (and deciined a fourth), all involv
ing plagiarism or related misuse of
another’s scholarly work. Two additional
cases of alleged plagiarism were
addressed as informal complaints.
Members of the division are pondering
the frequency and number of plagiarism
complaints this past year, and plan to pay
close attention to possible explanations
for its apparent increased incidence.
Meanwhile, a forthcoming article in the
“Professional Issues” column in
Perspectives is intended to call attention to
the problem and to the responsibilities of
scholars, publishers, and reviewers in
combating it.

The fourth complaint brought to the
division and concluded this year
involved multiple failures on the part of
an institution to follow its own policies
and procedures related to tenure, a con
cern that also surfaced in another case
handled informally. Several informal
complaints involved hiring practices
related to apparent age discrimination,
hiring outside the parameters of the
advertised job description, and requests
for inappropriate information as part of
the application process. In relation to the
last, the division wrote letters to a range
of officials on two campuses, one of iii
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which has now withdrawn what
appeared to be an objectionable form. In
part as a result of these complaints, the
division plans to sponsor panels on age
discrimination and on post-tenure review
at the 2001 annual meeting.

The division developed a list of recom
mended terms for presenting the status
of publications for use in a curriculum
vitae or resume. The statement was
approved by the AHA Council and will
be included in the next edition of
Becoming a Historian: A Survival Manual
for Women and Men.

The division also recommended to
Council a modification of the language
related to open searches in the Statement
on Standards of Professional Conduct in
order to recognize the reality of targeted
or opportunity hires. The division plans
to continue working with the Committee
on Women Historians, which has taken
the lead in preparing a “best practices”
statement for spousal and other such
nonsearched hires.

The division has had an ongoing con
cern with the growth of part-time or
“adjunct” employment at the cost of reg
ular tenure-track positions, a concern
shared by the Association as a whole and
by the scholarly profession generally. It
has actively supported the multi-associa
tion Coalition on the Academic
Workforce, a follow-up to the conference
on part-time and temporary faculty
cosponsored by the AHA in September
1997. At the spring meeting, the Council
approved the statement on “Guidelines
for Employment of Part-time and
Adjunct Faculty” recommended by the
Professional Division in 1998. Charles
Zappia, on behalf of the division, has par
ticipated in the planning of a new Task
Force on Part-time Teaching, chaired by
Maxine Lurie (Seton Hall Univ.). The
division works closely with staff member
Robert Townsend in preparing and ana
lyzing the annual survey of Departments
of History, a survey that is now intended
to elicit more information on part-time
employment and that will be supple-

mented by an additional AHA survey as
well as by a survey by the coalition.

Finally, the division secured Council
approval for changes in the “AHA
Professional Division: Guidelines for the
Hiring Process,” which is published each
year in the December issue of
Perspectives. The guidelines, worked out
in consultation with the Committee on
Women Historians, now urge that inter
viewing committees include both men
and women. They also recognize that the
annual meeting hotels cannot provide
suites for all interviews and therefore set
out appropriate practices for conducting
interviews in regular hotel rooms. This
change has the further advantage of mak
ing it possible to keep more centralized
information about the location of inter
view rooms at the annual meeting. As
usual, the division took primary respon
sibility, along with the Coordinating
Council for Women Historians, for the
“mock interview” session for job candi
dates at the annual meeting. There was
an excellent turnout of “volunteers” to
lead small discussion groups. Several of
them commented on how little prepara
tion for interviewing seems to be offered
to graduate students on their home cam
puses and urged that chairs and others
make efforts in this regard. We would
appreciate any feedback you may have
on the Job Register and on interviewing
at the annual meeting generally, directed
to the Professional Division or to Robert
Townsend at the AHA.

In concluding my first report as vice
president of the division, I want to invite
members to write to me in care of the
AHA office on topics raised in this report
or others they feel the division should
address. Members of the division would
welcome your input regarding the issues
of import to the profession as we enter
the 21st century.

Barbara D. Metcalf (University of
California at Davis) is vice president of the
AHA’s Professional Division.
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Report ofthe EdItor ofthe AmerIcan HIstorIcal RevIew

By Michael Grossberg

J
will complete my fifth year as editor

of the American Historical Review in

July 2000. I am pleased to report that

the journal continues to be produced in

a timely manner and, I hope, continues

to speak to the interests of the members

of this Association and other historians.

I am also pleased to report that three

recent AHR articles have won prizes.

Lizabeth Cohen’s October 1996 essay,

“From Town Center to Shopping Center:

The Reconfiguration of Community

Marketplaces in Postwar America,”

received its second prize, the 1999 ABC

CLIO America: History and Life Award.

The award is given every two years “to

recognize and encourage scholarship in

American history in the journal

literature advancing new perspectives

on accepted interpretations or

previously unconsidered topics.” Julia

Thomas’s December 1998 article,

“Photography, National Identity, and

the ‘Cataract of Times’: Wartime Images

and the Case of Japan,” won the article

prize of the Berkshire Conference of

Women Historians. And Padraic

Kenney’s April 1999 article, “The

Gender of Resistance in Communist

Poland,” won the 1999 Heldt Prize for

the Best Article in Slavic/Eurasian

Women’s Studies.
I should note also that I have accepted

a second five-year term as editor of the

AHR. It has been an honor and a

privilege to edit the journal. During my

tenure I have fried to maintain the

journal’s tradition of rigorous editorial

and production standards and to ftilfill

the journal’s distinctive mandate to

publish significant scholarship that

engages the common concerns of all

historians. Toward those ends I have

revised the AHR’s basic editorial policies,

initiated a number of editorial

innovations, and reclassified the book

review section. The result, I hope, is a

clearer articulation and execution of the

journal’s fundamental mission. However,

I think that much more can be done to

enhance the journal’s role as a distinctive

forum for timely and significant debates

about our discipline and the pasts that

historians recover and recount. Thus I

welcome comments about my

stewardship of the AHR.

In that regard, I would like to highlight

two editorial initiatives. First, we

continue to use AHR forums to raise

critical substantive and methodological

issues. The December 1999 issue

included a forum on the millennium, the

February 2000 issue contained a forum

on revolutions in the Americas, and the

April 2000 issue included a forum on

slavery across borders. Each forum

attempted to address the subject in a way

that fulfilled the journal’s mission of

speaking across time and space and that

continued our efforts at democratizing

the contents of the journal by inviting

instead of commissioning submissions.

We are also continuing our other major

democratizing effort: forum Essays. We

publish these essays in the June issue,

then solicit comments and publish the

most compelling along with a response

from the author in the October issue.

Thus far we have published two Forum

Essays and several are in production.

Both of these initiatives are aimed at

enhancing and enlarging the contents of

the journal.
Second, we continue to explore

electronic publication. In February 2000,

we published our first fully developed

electronic article: Robert Darnton’s

presidential address. The address

appeared in the print version of the

journal and on our web site, along with

additional features such as primary

sources, collateral essays, and an

interactive discussion. The AHR web site

can be found at
http:/ /www.indiana.edu/’-ahr/. Our

intent is to explore the new medium as a

means of the disseminating historical

scholarship. At the same time, we began

production of an electronic version of the

AHR in April 2000 as part of the newly

created History Cooperative. The

Cooperative is an electronic 11*
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AHR EdItor’s Report continuedfrom the previous page

publishing initiative created by the Al-IA,
the Organization of American Historians,
the University of Illinois Press, and the
National Academy Press. Current and
past issues can be found at
http://www.historycooperative.org. In
taking the journal online we have had
four primary goals: developing ways to
take advantage of the new electronic
medium as a way of publishing and
reviewing historical scholarship;
maintaining the AHR’s tradition of high
production standards in the new
medium; collaborating with other
journals to share information and to use
our fiscal resources and stature in the
most advantageous manner for the
discipline as a whole; and controlling
costs as much as possible. We think that
the Cooperative is an innovative and
effective mechanism for producing an e
AHR that achieves each of these goals.
And I would like to thank the members
of the e-AHR subcommittee for their
invaluable advice and assistance: Stanley
Katz, Douglas Greenberg, Robert Sherrill,
Gail Ross, and Arnita Jones.

It has been possible to publish the
journal in a timely and skillful manner
and to pursue these other activities
because of the skill and dedication of the
Al-JR staff and Board of Editors and the
support of the officers of the AHA.
Beyond the consistently high level of
their daily work, Assistant Editors
Moureen Coulter and Allyn Roberts
continue to make major contributions to
the development of journal initiatives.
And Associate Editor Jeffrey
Wasserstrom’s dedication, enthusiasm,
and insight has enabled us to achieve
many of our goals for the journal. There
has also been one staff change over the
last year among the journal’s graduate
student editorial assistants. Fenglan Yu
completed her term with distinction and
will now complete her dissertation.
Justin Nordstrom has replaced her.

I have also been very fortunate to work
with a distinguished and dedicated
group of historians on the journal’s

Board of Editors. Time and again over
the last year I have turned to them
individually and collectively for
assistance on manuscripts and journal
policies. They have always responded
with thoughtful and useful advice. In
May 1999, four members of the Board of
Editors completed their terms of office:
Emilia Viotti da Costa, Sarah Hanley,
Allen Isaacman, and Earl Lewis. They
have each made major contributions to
the journal and I have greatly
appreciated their advice. The AHA
Council approved four new board
members to take their places: Iris Berger
(Africa), Edward W. Muir Jr. (early
modern Europe), Brooke Larson (Latin
America), and Michael Hogan (modern
United States, diplomatic).

I would also like to thank the members
of the AHA Council, Research Division,
and Washington staff for their invaluable
assistance and support over the last year.
In particuLar I would like to
acknowledge once again the critical
contributions of Robert Townsend of the
AHA staff, who helps ensure the timely
production and distribution of the
journal as well as its financial support.
And as his term of office ended in
January 2000, I would like to thank Vice
President for Research Stanley Katz for
his steadfast support of the journal and
his thoughtful leadership in helping
chart its electronic future. And I would
like to thank the Association’s new
executive director, Arnita Jones, for her
advice and support. Most important, I
would like to express my gratitude to the
countless historians who helped produce
the AHR over the last year by evaluating
manuscripts, reviewing books, and
offering us their ideas about the journal.
Without their assistance, the journal
could not be published nor could its
editors aspire to achieve its mission. •

Michael Grossberg has been the editor of
the AHR since 1995. He teaches at Indiana
University.

Ihe Anwriran l—htoneal Re ew

The AHA’s flagship publication, the
American Historical Review, is
noted for its scholarly excellence and
breadth of coverage.
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AHA Council, DIvIsIons, and commItteesfor 1999

Note: The AHA’s executive director is an cx
officio inenther of the Council, the divisions,
and all the connnittees. The following is a list
of the officers, elected Council members, and
the approved committee structure for 1999.

Council

Council: Robert Darnton (Princeton
Univ.), president; Eric Foner (Columbia
Univ.), president-elect; Joseph C. Miller
(Univ. of Virginia), immediate past
president; Stanley N. Katz (Princeton
Univ.), vice president, Research Division;

Leon Fink (Univ. of North Carolina at

Chapel Hill), vice president, Teaching
Division; Barbara Metcalf (Univ. of
California at Davis), vice president,
Professional Division; Nadine Ishitani
Mata (El Camino Coil.); Emily Hill (Yale
Univ.); Cohn Palmer (Graduate Sch. and
Univ. Center, CUNY); Marilyn B. Young
(New York Univ.); Linda Shopes
(Pennsylvania Museum and Historical
Commission); Vicki L. Ruiz (Arizona
State Univ.); Michael Grossberg (AHR),
ex officio.

Divisions

Research Division: Stanley N. Katz,
vice president; Linda Shopes, Council
member; Richard L. Greaves (Florida
State Univ.); Barbara Molony (Santa
Clara Univ.); Gale Stokes (Rice Univ.).

Teaching Division: Leon fink, vice

president; Nadine Ishitani Hata, Council
member; Ron Briley (Sandia Preparatory
Sch.); Nupur Chaudhuri (Texas Southern
Univ.); Maxine Neustadt Lurie (Seton
Hall Univ.).

Professional Division: Barbara
Metcalf, vice president; Marilyn Young,
Council member; Leila Fawaz (Tufts
Univ.); James Grossman (Newberry
Library); Charles A. Zappia (San Diego
Mesa Coll.).

Committees

Nominating Committee: Leo Spitzer
(Dartmouth Coll.), chair; Michael Les
Benedict (Ohio State Univ.); Allison

Blakely (Howard Univ.); Jan F. Goldstein
(Univ. of Chicago); Linda B. Hall (Univ.

of New Mexico); Donald Teruo Hata Jr.

(California State Univ. at Dominguez
Hills); Helen Lefkowitz Horowitz
(Smith Coil.); Philip D. Morgan
(Omohundro Inst. of Early American
History and Culture, Coil. of William
and Mary); Sara T. Nalle (William
Paterson Univ.).

Committee on Committees: Eric
Foner, chair; Jacquelyn D. Hall (Univ. of
North Carolina at Chapel Hill); Edward
Muir (Northwestern Univ.); Madeleine
Zelin (Columbia Univ.); William B.
Taylor (Univ. of California at Berkeley).

Committee on Affiliated Societies:

Eric Foner, chair; Cohn Palmer, Council
member; Patrick Geary (Notre Dame
Univ.); Barbara Tennebaum (Library of
Congress).

Standing Committees

Committee on the Harold Vyvyan
Harmsworth Professorship in
American History: David M. Kennedy
(Stanford Univ.), chair; Ernest May
(Harvard Univ.); Robert L. Middlekauff
(Univ. of California at Berkeley); Robert
Darnton, president; Eric Foner,
president-elect.

Committee on International
Historical Activities: Renate Bridenthal
(Brooklyn Coil., CUNY), chair; Jeremy
Adams (Southern Methodist Univ.);
Richard L. Kagan (Johns Hopkins
Univ.); Charles D. Smith (Univ. of
Arizona); Stefan Tanaka (Univ. of
California at San Diego).

Committee on Minority Historians:
Tera Hunter (Carnegie Mellon Univ.)
and Mrinalini Sinha (Southern Illinois
Univ. at Carbondale), cochairs; Philip J.
Deloria (Univ. of Colorado at Boulder);
Kevin Gaines (Univ. Texas at Austin);
Theresa Mah (Northwestern Univ.);
Gloria Miranda (El Camino Coll.);
Gerald Surh (North Carolina State
Univ.).

Committee on Women Historians:
Carla A. Hesse (Univ. of California at
Berkeley), chair; Jermifer Brier (Rutgers
Univ.); Guido Ruggiero (Penn State
Univ.); Brenda Stevenson (UCLA);
Sandra Treadway (Library of Virginia);

Ann Waltner (Univ. of Minnesota).

Prize and fellowship
Committees

Committee on the AHA Prize in
Atlantic History: Cohn Palmer
(Graduate Sch’. and University Center,
City Univ. of New York), chair; Peter
Coclanis (Univ. of North Carolina);

Patrick Manning (Northeastern Univ.).
Committee on the Herbert Baxter

Adams Prize: Sabine MacCormack
(Univ. of Michigan), chair; Constance
Berman (Univ. of Iowa); Holger Herwig
(Univ. of Calgary); John Marina (Univ.
of California at San Diego); Allan
Megill (Univ. of Virginia).

Committee on the George Louis
Beer Prize: William B. Cohen (Indiana
Univ.), chair; Diane Shaver Clemens
(Univ. of California at Berkeley); Istvan
Deak (Columbia Univ.); Paul Kennedy
(Yale Univ.); Anson Rabinbach
(Princeton Univ.).

Committee on the Albert J.
Beveridge Award and the John H.
Dunning Prize: Stanley Engerman
(Univ. of Rochester), chair; Elaine
Abelson (New Sch. for Social
Research); Joan Cashin (Ohio State
Univ.); Gregory Kealey (Memorial
Univ. of Newfoundland); Claudio
Lomnitz (Univ. of Chicago).

Committee on the James Henry

Breasted Prize: John Thornton
(Millersville Univ. of Pennsylvania),
chair; Susan Kellogg (Univ. of
Houston); Richard White (Stanford
Univ.).

Committee on the John K. Fairbank

Prize: Laura Hem (Northwestern
Univ.), chair; Joseph Esherick (Univ. of
California at San Diego); Fred
Notehelfer (UCLA); Kathleen Uno
(Temple Univ.); R. Bin Wong (Univ. of
California at Irvine).

Committee on the Herbert Feis

Award: Fredrika J. Teute (Omohundro
Institute of Early American History and
Culture), chair; Fred Hoxie (Newberry
Library); David F. Lorey (Hewlett
Foundation); Kimberley Phillips (Call.
of William and Mary); Jane Smith
(Independent Scholar).
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Council, Divisions, and Connnittees

Committee on the Morris D.
Forkosch Prize: Dane Kennedy (Univ.
of Nebraska), chair; Antoinette Burton
(Johns Hopkins Univ.); Anna K. Clark
(Univ. of North Carolina at Charlotte);
Brian Levack (Univ. of Texas at Austin);
Robert Ritchie (The Huntington).

Committee on the Leo Gershoy
Award: James Boyden (Tulane Univ.),
chair; Giovanna Benadusi (Univ. of
South Florida); Jack Censer (George
Mason Univ.); Caroline Hibbard (Untu
of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign); Peter
Reill (UCLA).

Committee on the Gutenberg-e Prize:
Stuart B. Schwartz (Yale Univ.) chair;
Sara S. Berry (Johns Hopkins Univ.);
Thomas R. Metcalf (Univ. of California
at Berkeley).

Committee on the Joan Kelly
Memorial Prize: Eileen Boris (Univ. of
Virginia), chair; Edward Alpers
(UCLA); Margaret King (Brooklyn
Collj; Elizabeth Kuznesof (Univ. of
Kansas); Stephanie McCurry
(Northwestern Univ.).

Committee on the Littleton-Griswold
Prize: David Konig (Washington Univ.
at St. Louis), chair; Cornelia Dayton
(Univ. of Connecticut); James
Kloppenberg (Brandeis Univ.); Naomi
Lamoreaux (UCLA); Melvin Urofsky
(Virginia Commonwealth Univ.).

Committee on the Helen and
Howard R. Marraro Prizes: Roland
Sarti (Univ. of Massachusetts), chair;
Alexander I. Grab (Univ. of Maine at
Orono); John E. Monfasani (State Univ.
of New York at Albany).

Committee on the Wesley-Logan
Prize: D. Barry Gaspar (Duke Univ.),
chair; Betty Gardner (Coppin State
Coil.); Gwendolyn Hall (Rutgers Univ.);
Larry Martin (Coppin State Coll.); Juliet
Walker (Univ. of Illinois at Urbana-
Champaign).

Committee on the John O’Connor
Film Award: Victoria de Grazia
(Columbia Univ.), chair; David Culbert
(Louisiana State Univ.); Natalie Zemon
Davis (emeritus, Princeton Univ.).

Committee on Research Grant
Awards, U.S.fWestem Hemisphere
grants: Cheryl Martin, (Univ. of Texas),
chair; Stephen mnnes (Univ. of
Virginia); Michael Parrish (Univ. of
California, San Diego).

Committee on Research Grant
Awards, Africa, Asia, Europe grants:
Jerry Bentley (Univ. of Hawaii), chair;
Joanna Waley-Cohen (New York
Univ.); Luise White (Princeton Univ.).

Committee on the Nancy Roelker
Mentorship Award: William Paquette
(Tidewater Community Coil.), chair;
Maijorie Ganz (Speiman Coil.); Heidi
Roupp (Aspen Public Schools); Miguel
Tinker Salas (Pomona Coll.); Phillip
Troutman (Univ. of Virginia).

Committee on Teaching Prizes:
James Adomanis (Anne Arundei
County Public Schools), chair; Dorothy
Abrahamse (California State Univ. at
Long Beach); Evelyn Edson (Piedmont
Virginia Community Coll.); Lance
Grahn (Marquette Univ.); Carl
Schuikin (Pembroke Hill Sch.).

Committee on the J. Franklin
Jameson Fellowship: Rachel Klein
(Univ. of California at San Diego),
chair; Gaines Foster (Louisiana State
Univ.); Robert Middlekauff (Univ. of
California at Berkeley); Theda Perdue
(Univ. of North Carolina); Julie Saville
(Univ. of Chicago).

Committee on the NASA
Fellowship: John F. Guilmartin (Ohio
State Univ.), chair; Glenn E. Bugos
(The Prologue Group); Paul Ceruzzi
(National Air and Space Museum)
representing the Society for the
History of Technology; Peter Temin
(MIT) representing the Economic
History Association. Sharon Traweek
(UCLA).

Special, Joint, and Ad Hoc
Committees

Joint AHA-Canadian Historical
Association Committee: Peter Way
(Univ. of Sussex), chair; Jeremy
Adelman (Princeton Univ.); June
Namias (Univ. of Alaska).

Task Force on Graduate Education:
Emily Hill (Council member), chair;
Jennifer Brier (Rutgers Univ.); Theresa
Mah (Northwestern Univ.); Michael
Ross (Univ. of North Carolina at
Chapel Hill); Fred Schnabei (Harvard
Univ.); Leila Fawaz, (Professional
Division).

Program Committee for 2000: Claire
Moses (Univ. of Maryland at College
Park), chair; James Henretta (Univ. of
Maryland at College Park), cochair;
Michael Bernstein (Univ. of California
at San Diego), 2001 chair; Barbara
Hanawalt (Univ. of Minnesota), 2001
cochair; Paimira Brummett (Univ. of
Tennessee); Albert Hurtado (Univ. of
Oklahoma); John Kicza (Washington
State Univ.); Sucheta Mazumdar
(Duke Univ.); Peter Reiii (UCLA);
Claire Robertson (Ohio State Univ.);
Carolyn Williams (Univ. of North
Florida); Jessica Young (Oak Park
Forest River High Sch.).

Delegates

Advisory Committee on Historical
Diplomatic Documentation: Warren
F. Kimball (Rutgers Univ.).

American Association for the
Advancement of Slavic Studies:
Donald I. Raleigh (Univ. of North
Carolina at Chapel Hill).

American Council of Leamed
Societies: Thomas Holt (Univ. of
Chicago).

Consortium of Social Science
Associations: Myron P. Gutmann
(Univ. of Texas at Austin).

Intemational Committee of
Historical Sciences: Renate Bridenthal
(Brooklyn Coil., CUNY).

National Historical Publications
and Records Commission: Mary
Maples Dunn (Schlesinger Library).

Social Science Research Council:
Iris Berger (Univ. of Albany).

Friends of the German Historical
Institute: Kathleen Conzen (Univ. of
Chicago); Voiker Berghahn (Brown
Univ.).
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The cutoff date for tins list5o—Year fyiembers of the .uLA and the lists on pages 20—22 is December 31, 1999.

Judah Adelson Dewey W. Grantham Reginald H. Phelps
Theodore Lee Agnew Jr. Thomas H. Greer Jr. Harold T. Pthkett
Herbert Aptheker William S. Greever Raymond Polin
William C. Askew Gordon Griffiths Earl Pomeroy
Paul Walden Bamford Theodore S. Hamerow Wayne D. Rasmussen
Samuel H. Baron Sidney S. Harcave R. John Rath
Joseph 0. Baylen Paul H. Hardacre James A. Rawley
Robert E Berger Mary W. Hargreaves Agnes Lytton Reagan
William R. Bishop Jr. Thomas T. Helde Kent C. Redmond
Amold Blumberg Mahion H. Hellerich Richard W. Reichard
Catherine Sims Boman Melinda Heimessey Nicholas V. Riasanovsky
Hugh S. Bonar Jr. Richard G. Hewlett Moses Rischin
Aaron M. Boom Brooke Hindle Ellis Rivkin
Daniel J. Boorstin I. B. Holley Jt Madeline R. Robinton
Woodrow Borah Robert B. Holtman Frederick Rudolph
Joseph A. Borome Edward H. Howes Wallace P. Rusterholtz
Catherine E. Boyd W. Turren tine Jackson Arthur M. Schlesinger Jr.
W. Harland Boyd Edward T. James Henry M. Schreiber
Edward Rommel Brann Saul Jarcho John Schutz
Ira V Brown Charles Jelavich Walter A. Sedelow
Catherine A. Bryant Robert W. Johannsen Joseph I. Shulim
William H. Cartwright George W. Kahler Bemard Sinsheimer
Fred A. Cazel Jr. Lawrence S. Kaplan Morris Slavin
Eugene K. Chamberlin Jules A. Karlin

Amherst M. Smith
David Sanders Clark Robert M. Kingdon

Franklin A. Smith
Ira G. Clark Donald L. Kinzer
Thomas D. Clark Milton M. Klein

Lacey B. Smith

Charles C. Cole Jr. William A. Klutts
Joseph F. Steelman
Fritz R. SternJoel Colton Arthur G. Kogan
Wilbert H. TimmonsKenneth S. Cooper Enno E. Kraehe

Richard W. Couper George W. Kyte George B. Tindall
Edward P. Torrey

J. T. Criscenti Donald F Lach
Hans L. TrefousseNoble E. Cunningham Douglas E. Leach

Richard N. Current Thomas H. Leduc Graydon A. Tunstall Jr.

Karl Henry Dannenfeldt Hyman Levinson Roger H. Vanbolt
Albert E. Vandusen*

William N. Davis Jr. Marvin E. Lowe
Clarence L. Ver SteegVincent P. Desanfis Richard Lowitt

Marshall Dill Jr. William L. Ludlow Klemens Von Klemperer

David H. Donald J. K. Mahon Theodore H. Von Laue*

Arthur P. Dudden James Russell Major* Wayne S. Vucinich

A. Hunter Dupree Thomas G. Manning Henry S. Vyverberg

Melvin W. Ecke Bernard Mason Evelyn Acomb Walker

David S. Edelstein Newell 0. Mason Raymond Walters Jr.

Elizabeth L. Eisenstein Samuel Clyde McCulloch Robert D. Warth

Arthur A. Ekirch Jr.* William H. McNeill Dora B. Weiner
Matthew H. Elbow Glover Moore Marvin Weiner
Handy Bruce Fant Wentworth S. Morris Henry R. Winkler
Robert H. Ferrell George L. Mosse* William L. Winter
Ralph T. Fisher Jr. Milton E. Muelder Stanley B. Winters
John Douglas Forbes John A. Munroe C. Vann Woodward*

Franklin Lewis Ford Lee N. Newcomer C. Conrad Wright
Elizabeth R. Foster William J. Newman Edith P. Young
John Hope Franklin J. Alden Nichols John H. Yzenbaard
John A. Garraty Emiliana P. Noether Herbert C. Zafren
James F Gillen Nancy P. Norton Perez Zagorin
Francis X. Glimm Robert R. Palmer Oscar Zeichner
Rosaline Goldin Theodore P. Palmer
Donald C. Gordon Harold T. Parker
Norman A. Graebner Stow S. Persons * Deceased
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25-YearMembers oftheAHA

Sabri M. Akural Jan Goldstein Gayle T. Pendleton
Jeanie Athe Rebecca G. Goodman Jeanne Marie Penvenne
R. Reid Badger Sidney Gottesfeld Elisabeth I. Perry
Lois M. Barnett John H. Grever Mary Elizabeth Perry
Byron K. Beck Jeffrey Griffith

Helge 0. Pharo
Jonathan F. Beecher Michael Dennis Griffith

E. Harrell Phillips
Constance H. Berman Michael D. Haggin

Robert A. Pois
D’Arcy J. D. Boulton Frederich E. Heilman

Fred E. Pollock
William J. Breen Kurt K. Hendel

Joseph P. Reidy
Robert A. Briggs James A. Hijiya

John R. Rilling
Alan Brinkley Michael J. Himes

Lois J. Roberts
Elizabeth Anne Brown Joel Horowitz

Claire C. RobertsonJoshua Brown John A. Hutcheson Jr.

Judith C. Brown Peter J. Iverson John P. Ryan

William L. SachsAnthony E. Cahill Sylvia M. Jacobs

Stephen Douglas Cans John R. Johnson Gary B. Sanders

John Joseph Carrigg Lyman L. Johnson Barbara C. Sciacchitano

Joseph C. Castora Melvin Kalfus Jerrold E. Seigel

Michael B. Chesson Carmela A. Karnoutsos Marianne Sheldon

Sue Fawn Chung Ronald Dale Karr Richard S. Slotkin

Theodore F. Cook Jr. Joan R. Kent Ralph Smiley

Christine A. Corcos Hillel I. Kieval Duncan Smyth

George B. Cotkin William E. Kinsella Jr. Sheldon Spear
Ann Crabb Thomas R. Knox Elaine G. Spencer
Richard E. Darilek Demosthenes Kontos Luther W. Spoehr
Diane W. Darst David F. Knein Gary D. Stark
David E. Dauer A. Paul Kubnicht Charles S. Steinger
Donald E. Day John J. Kulczycki Roy A. Sunstrom
John H. Eddy Richard R. Laurence

Marc J. Susser
Bryan Egan Carole B. Levin

Duane A. Tananbaum
Francine M. Ekelman Raymond M. Lorantas

John E. Toews
Thomas R. English Marian A. Low

Elizabeth L. Vandepaer
Claude C. Erb Stephen E. Maizlish

David E. Van Deventer
Nora H. Faires Roberta T. Manning

Joseph J. Viditch
Dewey P. Fasnacht Jr Robert G. Moeller

Kaspar H. Von GreyerzJoseph R. Fink John J. Mctague Jr.
Keith E. WagnerNoralee Frankel Allan Megill
Frederic E. WakemanAmanda Clark Frost Earl J. Murphy

Fumiko Fujita Kenneth M. Murray Ralph Stuart Wallace

August W. Giebelhaus Mark A. Noll Ellis A. Wasson

James L. Gillespie Philip G. Nord Kenneth A. Waltzer

James B. Given Daniel T. Orlovsky Jerry Weiner

Myra C. Glenn Deborah L. Pearl David Wetzel

Carol Gluck Abrahan J. Peck Bruce R. Wolf

John C. Gogliettino William Pencak Richard E. Wood

20 AHA Annual Report • 1999



Endowment Donors and ContributIngMembers

Jeanne Marie PenvenneWilliam D. Harshaw
Mar Elizabeth Perry

Endowment Donors
Susan M. Harann

Lewis C. PerryTheodore Lee Agnew Jr.
Sally Arm Hastings

Giselle PeruyeraLois A. Aroian
Charles W. Hayford

Barbara Bennett PetersonOmer Aslan
Frederich F. Heilman

Carla Rahn PhillipsJames M. Banner Jr.
Gad J Heuman

John F. Piper Jr.James Bartholomew
Robert Hindley

Ann PlanePeter M. Beattie
Beatrice K Hofstadter

Mark PolelleMichael Les Benedict
Chiistine Holden

Christie F. PopeJerry H. Bentley
Ulle V. Holt

Robert E. QuigleyRobert E. Berger
Ross Charles Horning Jr.

Susan Marie RadomskyRobert F. Berkhofer Jr.
Douglas W. Houston

Thaddeus C. RadzilowskiLawrence Birken
Rose Chan Houston

Barbara N. RamusackPercy Bleckman
Edward H. Howes

Stephen RatcliffeEileen Boris
Jennifer A. Hull

Thoreau E RaymondShearer Davis Bowman
John A. Hutcheson Jr.

Matthew B. RestallTerence J. Brennan
Reed Hutner

Elaine G. RobisonPenelope Brownell
Mrs. Alfreda L. Irwin

John F. RocheJ E. Browning
Jean T. Joughin

Manuel R. RodriguezDonald S. Castro
Jules A Karlin

Bert RoestAimee L. Cheek
Frederick Kellogg

William B. RogersThomas S. Colahan
Heinrich Kessler

Mark H. RoseCarlos A. Contreras
Arthur H. Kinnard Jr.

Marjorie 1. RussEdith B. Couturier
Susan F. Klepp

Lionel J. SandersComelia Hughes Dayton
Rodney B. Koeneke

Edwin G. SanfordMax Dent
Jeffrey D. Koinick

Kathleen Bergan ScidtNeil J. Diamant
David E. Kyvig

Timothy J. SchmitzPeter D. Diehl
Janine M. Lanza

Arnold SchrierHelen Dunstan
Pierre H. Laurent

Reinhold S. SchumannMichael H. Ebner
Russell M. Magnaghi

Aristides ScoufelisRebecca B. Edwards
Jackson T. Main

Renee M. SentillesGenevieve S. Edwards
Anthony R. Maravillas

Kenneth P. SerbinPaula Eldot
Carol A. Marsh

Winyss A. ShepardWilliam B. Evans
Noah M. McCormack

Michael S. SherryBruce Fetter
Lawrence J. McCrank

Paul L. SilverCarter V. Findley
Gordon B. McKthney

David L. Simpson Jr.Ian C. Fletcher
Freddie McNabb

Shlomo SlonimWillard Allen Fletcher
David T. Mccown

Richard D. SmedleyNeil Foley
Kathleen E. Mccrone

James Howell SmithKelly Robert Folsom
Frank Merli

William H. SmithBridget Ford
Morton J. Merowitz

Douglas SmithScott D. Fricano
David Moltke-Hansen

Jennifer M. SpeedDavid A. Gerber
Sidney Monas

John SpencerFrederick W. Gerbracht
Armin F. Mruck

William S. StorySolomon Addis Getahun
John Muendel

Christy J. StoryTimothy D. Goggin
Helen F. Mulvey

Margaret A. StrobelJules M. Gordon
Doyce B. Nunis Jr.

Susan M. StuardSarah Barringer Gordon
Alice M. O’Connor

John M. ThompsonJohn R. Grace
Lisa A. Pace

John K. ThorntonSamuel Haber
William G. Palmer

Louise A. TillyDaryl M. Hafter
James R. Palmitessa

Anne Reilly Tirone 111*
Christopher J.D. Haig

I(ris Pangburn
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Endowment Donors and ContrIbutIngMembers con tInuedfrom theprevIouspage

David F. Trask Mahmood Thrahim
Milton I. Vanger Allen Isaacman
Diana Velez Margaret C. Jacob
Eric J. Vettel Prescott Jennings Jr.
Richard Waldron Arnita A. Jones
Paul V. Walsh Jacqueline Jones
Ruben E. Weltsch Frances G. Joyce
Donald G. Wileman Richard L. Kagan
John A. Williams Stanley N. Katz
John D. Wirth Cecil Barden Keeler
Christopher B. With David M. Kennedy
Christine D. Worobec Lisbet Koerner
Peter J. Yearwood Charles S. Maier
Wen-Hsing Yeh Heather McCallum

I. William T. Youngs David C. McCool
Joanna Schneider Zangrando Charles R. Middleton
Robert L. Zangrando Joseph C. Miller
Melanie Barton Zoltan Edward W. Muir Jr.

Contributing Members Norman Naimark
Robert C. Olson

Robert J. Allison Alan D. Pauw
Edward A. Alpers Helmut Puff
Joyce 0. Appleby Robert Rackmales
Allen B. Ballard Thaddeus C. Radzilowski
Michael Les Benedict Jack N. Rakove
Shelley Bookspan Jon D. Randles
T. H. Breen Gary W. Reichard
John W. Brennan Mark Reisler
Jon Butler Donald A. Ritchie
Berenice A Carroll James L. Roark
Stephen H. Case Dorothy Ross
Donald S. Castro Don Karl Rowney
Paul K Conkin Sharon V. Salinger
Edith B. Couturier Harry N. Scheiber
Gordon A. Craig Arnold Schrier
Xavier Didierjean Lois G. Schwoerer
Leonard Dinnerstein Martin J. Sherwin
J. T. Flynn Sharon L. Sievers
Paul Forman Edward W. Sloan III
Daniel M. Fox Douglas Smith
Zephyr Lake Frank Ronald H. Spector
Mary 0. Fumer John Spencer
Christopher J.D. Haig Peter N. Stearns
Kermit L. Hall Susan Agnes Stussy
Victoria A. Harden Gabrielle A. Thurman
Darlene Clark Hine Laurel T. Ulrich
Stanley William Hodge Harry M. Walsh
Michael H. Hoeftich Samuel R. Williamson Jr.
Lynn A. Hunt Charles A. Zappia
John A. Hutcheson Jr. Reginald E. Zelnik
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Awards, PrIzes, Grants, and FellowshIps

Awards and Prizes

Awards for Scholarly
Distinction

Earl Pomeroy (Univ. of Oregon),
Eugen Weber (UCLA), and
Gerhard Weinberg (Univ. of North
Carolina at Chapel Hill).

Troyer Steele Anderson Prize

Page Putnam Miller (National
Coordinating Committee for the
Promotion of History), and
David Trask (Guilford Tecimical
Community College).

Eugene Asher Distinguished
Teaching Award

Vernon L. Lidtke (Johns Hopkins

Univ.)

Beveridge Family Teaching
Award

The California History—Social
Science Project.

William Gilbert Award

Peter Seixas (Univ. of British
Columbia) for his article, “Student
Teachers Thinking Historically,”
which appeared in Theory and
Research in Social Education 26:3
(summer 1998), 310—41.

John O’Connor Film Award

Rabbit in the Moon, produced and
directed by Emiko Omori.

Nancy Lyman Roelker
Mentorship Award

Gary Kates (Trinity Univ., San
Antonio)

Honorary Foreign Member

Hans-Ulrich Wehier of Germany

Book Prizes

Herbert Baxter Adams Prize:

Gabrielle Hecht for The Radiance of

France: Nuclear Power and National

Identity after World War II (MIT Press)

Atlantic History Prize: Jeremy
Adelman for Republic of Capital: Buenos
Aires and the Legal Transformation of the
New World (Stanford University Press)

George Louis Beer Prize: Daniel T.
Rodgers for Atlantic Crossings: Social
Politics in a Progressive Age (Belknap

Press)

Albert I. Beveridge Prize: Friedrich

Katz for The Life & Times of Pancho Villa
(Stanford University Press)

James Henry Breasted Prize: David
Woodward and G. Malcolm Lewis for
The History of Cartography: Cartography
in the Traditional African, America,i,
Arctic, Australian and PactjIc Societies

(University of Chicago Press)

John H. Dunning Prize: Marilyn

Baseler for Asylum for Mankind:
America, 1607—1800 (Cornell University
Press)

John K. Fairbank Prize: John Dower
for Embracing Defeat: Japan in the Wake
of World War II (The New Press)

Herbert feis Prize: Rachel P. Maines
for The Technology of Orgasm: ‘Hysteria’,
the Vibrator and Women’s Sexual
Satisfaction (Johns Hopkins University
Press)

Morris D. forkosch Prize: Kathleen
Paul for Whitewashing Britain: Race and
Citizenship in the Postwar Era (Cornell
University Press)

Leo Gershoy Prize: Adrian Johns for
The Nature of the Book: Print and
Knowledge in the Making (University of
Chicago Press)

Joan Kelly Memorial Prize and the
Littleton-Griswold Prize: Linda K.
Kerber for No Constitutional Right to be
Ladies: Women and the Obligations of
Citizenship (Hill & Wang)

Helen and Howard R. Marraro
Prizes in Italian History: Samuel L.
Baily for Innnigrants in the Land of
Promise: Italians in Buenos Aires and New

York City, 1870—1914 (Princeton
University Press)

Wesley-Logan Prize: Kim D. Butler

for Freedoms Given, Freedoms Won: Afro-

Brazilians in Post-Abolition Sao Paulo and

Salvador (Rutgers University Press).

Gutenberg-e Prizes

Ignacio Gallup-Diaz (Bryn Mawr

College), “The ‘Door of the Seas and
the Key to the Universe’: Indian
Politics and Imperial Rivalry in the
Darien, 1640—1750,”

Heidi Gengenbach (SUNY at
Buffalo), “Where Women Make
History: Pots, Stories, Tattoos, and
Other Gendered Accounts of
Community and Change in Magude
District, Mozambique, c. 1800 to the
Present.”.

Anne Hardgrove (University of
Iowa), “Community as Public Culture
in Modem India: The Marwaris of
Calcutta, c. 1897—1997.”

Jacqueline Holler (Simon Fraser
University), “Escogidas Plantas”: Nuns
and Beatas in Mexico City, 1531—1601.”

Michael Katten (Independent
Scholar), “Category Creation and the
Colonial Setting: Identity Formation in
Nineteenth-Century Telugu-Speaking
India.

Helena Pohlandt-McCormick
(Carleton College), “1 Saw a
Nightmare.. ‘—Doing Violence to
Memory: The Soweto Uprising, June
16, 1976.”

Grants and Fellowships

J. Franklin Jameson
Fellowship (1998—99)

Patrick J. Rael (Bowdoin Coil.),
“African American Thought and
Society in the Antebellum South”

NASA Fellowship in
Aerospace History (1998—99)

Hugh R. Slotten, “Communications,
Satellites, Broadcasting, and Policy
Decisionmaking in the United States”

Albert J. Beveridge Grants

Constance Chen (UCLA), “From

Passion to Discipline: Oriental Art,

Professionalization, and the Culture of

Modernity in the U.S., 1893—1944”
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AMERICAN HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year Ended June 30, 1999

Temporarily Permanently Total
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted $

$ $ $
Revenues, gains, other support:

Membership 870,242 870,242

Annual meeting 549,147 -
549,147

Publications 486,766 -
486,766

American Historical Review 400,892 - 400,892

Interest and dividends 67,604 45,900 - 113,504

Contributions, grants and contracts 6,660 165,687 35,275 207,622

Endowment fund revenue 11,660 - 11,660

Miscellaneous 4,898 - 4,898

Realized gain on security sales 148,046 64,333 - 212,379

Unrealized gain on investments 98,889 42,937 - 141,826

Net assets released from restrictions:

Satisfaction of program restrictions 218,647 (218,647) -

Total revenues, gains, and other support 2,863,451 100,210 35,275 2,998,936

Expenses:

Membership 166,592 -
- 166,592

Council and committees 278,301 - - 278,301

Annual meeting 232,359 -
- 232,359

Publications 489,988 -
- 489,988

American Historical Review 600,420 -
- 600,420

Promotion 7,688 - - 7,688

Development 10,720 - - 10,720

Grants 26,167 - - 26,167

Contributions/coalitions 56,437 -
- 56,437

Administration 429,265 - 429,265

Management fee 16,314 - - 16,314

Restricted fund 218,647 - 218,647

Prizes and related expenses
designated funds 14,685 14,685

Depreciation 46,045 46,045

Total expenses 2,593,628 - 2,593,628

Change in net assets 269,823 100,210 35,275 405,308

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Year Ended June 30, 1999

Net Assets:
Balances, July 1, 1998 2,658,485 712,225 409,282 3,779,992

Changes in net assets 269,823 100,210 35,275 405,308

Transfers 34,180 (34,180)
Balances, June 30, 1999 2,962,488 778,255 444,557 4,185,300

See Notes to Financial Statements
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AMERICAN HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended June 30, 1999
Cash flows from operating activities: $

Cash received from dues, meetings, publications,
contributions, grants and contracts 3,550,812

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (2,559,926)
Interest and dividends received 95,931
Interest paid (2,406)

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities 1,084,411

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of investments 536,239
Purchase of investments (1,305,885)
Purchase of property and equipment (11,670)

Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities (781,316)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net borrowings (payments) from

revolving credit agreements -

Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities -

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 303,095
Cash and cash equivalents:

Balances, July 1, 1998 (56,685)
Balances, June 30, 1999 246,410

Reconciliation of change in net assets
to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Change in net assets 405,308
Adjustments to reconcile change in

net assets to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:

Depreciation 46,045
Change in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 16,559
(Increase) decrease in contribution receivable 18,000
(Increase) decrease in grant receivable (49,251)
(Increase) decrease in interest and dividends receivable (17,573)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (13,931)
(Increase) decrease in deposits (4,116)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (9,394)
Increase (decrease) in accrued vacation 2,751
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue - Exhibits 8,960
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue - ISP Subscriptions 1,556
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue - Annual Meeting 8,811
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue - Grants 1,014,441
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue - Life Membership 10,450
Gain on sales of marketable securities (212,379)
Unrealized gain on marketable securities (141,826)

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities $ 1,084,411

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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AMERICAN HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of organization and significant accounting poli
cies:
Nature of organization:
The American Historical Association (Association) is a non
profit membership corporation founded in 1884 and incorpo
rated by Congress in 1889 for the promotion of historical
studies, the collection and preservation of historical manu
scripts, and the dissemination of historical research.
A summary of the significant accounting policies of the
Association is as follows:
Changes in accounting principles:

Accounting for contributions:
The Association adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SfAS) No. 116, “Accounting for Contributions
Received and Contributions Made,” whereby contributions
received are recorded as unrestricted, temporarily restricted,
or permanently restricted support depending on the exis
tence and/or nature of any donor restrictions. Restricted net
assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets upon satis
faction of the time or purpose restrictions.
Financial reporting and financial statement presentation:
The Association adopted SFAS No. 117, “Financial
Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations.” Under SFAS
No. 117, the Association is required to report information
regarding its financial position and activities according to
three classes of net assets: unrestricted, temporarily
restricted, and permanently restricted. In addition, the
Association is required to present a statement of cash flows.
The Association has discontinued its use of fund accounting
and, accordingly, has reclassified its financial statements to
present these classes of net assets.

Basis of presentation:
Except for membership dues revenue and subscription rev
enue, which are accounted for using the cash basis of account
ing, the accompanying financial statements have been
prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. Net assets and rev
enue, expenses, gains, and losses are classified based on the
existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.
Accordingly, net assets of the Association and changes therein
are classified and reported as follows:
Unrestricted net assets:
Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations.
Unrestricted designated:
The unrestricted designated net assets have been set aside by
the Council (equivalent to the board of directors) of the
Association for a particular purpose. The Council, at any time,
can vote to change the designation of these net assets for
another purpose, including to unrestricted net assets.
Unrestricted property, plant, and equipment:
The unrestricted property, plant, and equipment net assets
reflect transactions relating to the property, plant, and equip
ment owned by the Association, which is purchased through
transfers from the unrestricted undesignated net assets.
Temporarily restricted net assets:
Temporarily restricted net assets are net assets subject to

donor-imposed stipulations that may or wifi be met, either by
actions of the Association and/or the passage of time. When a
restriction expires, temporarily restricted net assets are reclas
sified to unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement
of activities as net assets released from restrictions.
Permanently restricted net assets:
Permanently restricted net assets are net assets subject to
donor-imposed stipulations that they be maintained perma
nently by the Association. Generally, the donors of these assets
permit the Association to use all or part of the income earned
on any related investments for general or specific purposes.
Revenue recognition:
Revenue (except membership dues and subscriptions) is rec
ognized in the period in which it is earned (accrual method).
By contrast, dues are recognized when received (cash method
- due to difficulties in extracting the appropriate information
from the membership database system). Annual meeting fees
collected in advance are recorded as deferred revenue.
Subscriptions are recognized on a straight-line basis over the
subscription period.
Cash and cash equivalents:
For purposes of reporting the statement of cash flows, the
Association includes all cash accounts, which are not subject to
withdrawal restrictions or penalties, and have original term to
maturity of less than three months, as cash on the accompany
ing balance sheet.
Investments:
Marketable equity securities and marketable debt securities
are carried at market value. Increases or decreases in market
value are recognized in the period in which they occur, as
unrealized gains or losses.
Contribution receivable:
The Association includes all unconditional promises to give in
their financial statements as a contribution receivable in accor
dance with SFAS No. 116. These receivables are recorded at
their fair value.
Property, plant and equipment:
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation
is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the related assets which range from 3 to 40
years. The Association capitalizes all property, plant and
equipment purchases in excess of $500.
Income tax status:
The Internal Revenue Service has determined that the
Association is exempt from federal income tax under internal
Revenue Code Section 501©(3). The Association is subject to
taxation on net unrelated business income.
Estimates:
Management uses estimates and assumptions in preparing
these financial statements. Those estimates and assumptions
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclo
sure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported rev
enue and expenses. Actual results could vary from the
estimates that were assumed in preparing the financial state
ments.
2. Investments:
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Temporary Investments $149,500 $149,500 $149,500
U.S. Treasury Bonds
and Notes 449,039 451,867 451,867
Corporate Bonds
and Other 425,584 415,488 415,488
Common Stock 910,220 2,924,276 2,924,276
Convertible Bonds
and Preferred Stock 57,090 72,929 72,929
Certificate of Deposit 734,000 752,388 752,388
Cash 252 252 252
Total 2,725,685 4,766,700 4,766,700

3. Propert plant, and equipment:
Property, plant, and equipment in the unrestricted designated
fund consisted of the following at June 30, 1999:

$8,000
365,427
511,644
885,071

Less accumulated depreciation (496,184)
Total 388,887
Depreciation expense charged to the unrestricted fund during
the year ended June 30, 1999, was $46,045.
The Association’s land is stated at cost.
4. Note payable - line of creditlsubsequent event:
The Association has a revolving line of credit of $180,000.
Interest is charged at the financial institution’s prime rate plus
.50%. Collateral consists of approximately $200,000 of U.S.
Treasury Bonds and Notes. There were no outstanding bor
rowings at June 30, 1999. The interest rate at June 30, 1999 was
8.75% and the amount of interest charged to operations for the
year ended June 30, 1999 was $2,006. The line of credit expires
on October 10, 1999.
5. Deferred revenue - Grants
Deferred revenue - Grants consisted of the following at June
30, 1999:

Mellon Foundation:
F-Book Prize Program

Ford Foundation Grant:
Community College Faculty Seminar,
and World History and
Area Studies Conference

Total

6. Pension plan:
The Association has a defined contribution pension plan
which is funded through the purchase of individual annuity
contracts. The plan, which covers all eligible employees,
allows an employee to defer at least five percent of their
annual salary. Ten percent of the employee’s annual salary is
contributed by the Association. The Association’s pension
expense for the year ended June 30, 1999 was $59,023.
7. Fundraising expenses:
The Association’s fundraising expense for the year ended June
30, 1999 was $10,640. The Association did not incur any

as of June 30, 1999:
The Association’s investment balances consist of the following expenses that would be considered to be joint costs.

8. Grants and contracts:
The Association is a recipient of various grant and contractMarket fair

Cost Value Value awards. Upon completion or expiration of a grant or contract,
unexpended funds which are not available for general pur
poses of the Association are either returned or maintained for
future restricted purposes.
9. Concentration of credit risk:
The Association maintains accounts in a financial institution
whose combined balance exceeded the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) limits at various times through
out the year ended June 30, 1999. The balance at June 30, 1999,
that exceeded the FDIC limits was $1,041,545.
10. Effect of departure from generally accepted accounting
principles:
As stated in Note 1, the Association normally recognizes rev
enue from membership dues and subscriptions on the cash
basis. We estimate that the Association’s net assets would
decrease $377,000 if membership dues revenue was deferred.
With respect to subscriptions revenue, the effect on the
Association’s net assets cannot be reasonably estimated.

Land
Building and improvements
Furniture and equipment

****

NIsHI & ZIMMERMAN, P.C.
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

ON THE SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

To the Council
American Historical Association
Washington, DC

$734,000
Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an
opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a
whole. The supplementary information, which follows,

280,441 is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is

1,014 441 not a required part of the basic financial statements.
Such information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the basic financial state
ments taken as whole.

Nishi & Zimmerman, P.C.

Rockville, Maryland
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SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED FUNDS
Year Ended June 30,1999

Balances, Contributions Withdrawals Balances,
July 1, 1998 June 30, 1999Prize funds:

*fjjf Baxter Adams Prize Fund $5,000 - - $5,000
*Ancient History Prize Fund -

James H. Breasted Fund 10800 - - 10,800
‘George Louis Beer Prize Fund 5,000 - - 5,000
*Beveridge Family Prize Fund 20,000 - - 20,000
‘Paul Birdsall Prize Fund 10,000 - - 10,000
‘Albert Corey Prize Fund 25,000 - - 25,000
‘Premio Del Rey Prize Fund 10,800 - - 10,800
‘John H. Dunning Prize Fund 2,000 - - 2,000
*John K. Fairbank Prize Fund 7,990 - - 7,990
‘Morris D. Forkosch Prize Fund 16,000 - - 16,000
‘Leo Gershoy Prize Fund 10,000 - - 10,000
‘William Gilbert Prize Fund 10,000 - - 10,000
‘Clarence H. Haring Prize Fund 3,000 - - 3,000
‘Joan Kelly Prize Fund 18,692 - - 18,692
‘Michael Kraus Prize Fund 15,000 - - 15,000
‘Howard H. Marraro Prize Fund 10,000 - - 10,000

,i,,: ‘James A. Rawley Award
- 35,275 - 35,275

.I *Nancy Roelker Award 18,000 - - 18,000
‘YtL4I: ‘ Total Prize Funds 197,282 35,275 - 232,557

F Funda:
• *4ftjfJ Beveridge Memorial Fund 100,000 - - 100,000

‘Liftlaton-Griswold Fund 25,000 - - 25,000
‘David M. Matteson Fund 87,000 - - 87,000

Total Funds 212,000 - - 212,000
Total Permanently Restricted Funds $409,282 $35,275 - $444,557

C)
C)
C)

C

C)
C
z

V
C)
r
C
w
I.
CC

cn
0
z
D
LL

0
Ui
I
0

I
CD
Ui

z
D
z
CD
Ui
0
z
4

Ft
,0

0
Ui

Fi

0
Ui
.1
it)
10

0’
-0) ommoor—mooooooooo—o
u’ oowo—mmomw
Co r-&RrwoN6csi
5m or—’e-Lnm(nooo
a r—ccjmcow m 0,

-:1

6E EQ5$°00’00(00)0a’$9 OmOoOO<i,_<a —r’oojoo - - -

— drwCU) (0 m

©
A , , ,

0) £& 010 10
0 00 wo,r’i

(00 or-to
a w woo
N DCw

aCC
NOW 010000(0 0 a
= 9 tommr—w wac_ L0’OOLOOIO C

DBaI
ILCC> —m——ccio toD Va

a
‘a C

S
Wl0 000)(0r-.0 0a’
a m-e—w ,,j 0 C

C. Di
V I-
C .9 6a
.9 S

(3 C, —wr--om cci g
O d OIOwIO10— — a <

01 .%‘ r-Lor-oc cci
D aC —0)100(0— — CE
C (3D mm——mm —

— 0 ‘3
U) .2 m

. g
‘3 a —

t (3a C aE— C0) oooomo toa at ma’mmmto U) aa C mowo. —
0000100 0 t V

—0) 0 C

V —a a
I ‘3=

a Oi
‘3

—au w (00 D a
00 0 a I
r—r-. 5
aid a

‘360 (00
(300 0)0

dcci 2 .9
a

0
010’ 10 0 0(0 1’- In ‘ m
a0’ oowooo CO 0
o wLOU)OOLO

m -
r—oommr-- mr-tn oi i
0)000)00 CD’3

oi m OWaa
-a V 5 a
a a a a

‘3 0—
cc a 0
a- c
S

a
E2t

ES
aaaC
aEaE

a CC
V

VC aa
V
C DCaeD V

IL ‘3a w a.c.BC
— 18 ‘3
o 52’

S tea E
C a VCV0) .9.
O , CDCC 0 DaC
o ‘ a’ atEO

a a a,.a Wc,tW
O a0)ttot’3DV C at‘3 c5.2WC awC

18aa
S Wø’3a
o oEow
‘ ‘3D8°-.5

‘3CtW
—a F

.2
‘

2C
0D

*
- Total balances for these funds include amounts reported on this schedule with amounts listed on the

Schedule of Changes in Temporarily Restricted Funds and the Schedule of Changes in Unrestricted
Funds.

SCHEDULE OF PARTICIPATION IN INVESTMENTS HELD BY
FIDUCIARY TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK

June 30, 1999

Special Funds and Grants:
Herbert Baxter Adams Prize Fund
Ancient History Prize Fund
James H. Breasted Fund

George Louis Beer Prize Fund
Beveridge Family Prize Fund
Albert J. Beveridge Memorial Fund
Paul Birdsall Prize Fund
Central European History Prize Fund
Albert Corey Prize Fund
Premlo Del Ray Prize Fund
John H. Dunning Prize Fund
Endowmenf Fund
John K. Fairbank Prize Fund
Morris D. Forkosch Prize Fund
Leo Gershoy Prize Fund
William Gilbert Prize Fund
Clarence H. Haring Prize Fund
J. Franklin Jameson Fund
Joan Kelly Prize Fund
Michael Kraus Prize Fund
Littlefon-Griswold Fund
Howard R. Marraro Prize Fund
David M. Maoeson Fund
Oxford Press - Guide
Rockefeller Foundation Grant-

Herbert Feis Prize Fund
James A. Hawley Award
Nancy Roelker Prize
Barnadofle Schmitt Endowment
Wesley Logan Prize
Andrew D. White Fund

Total Special Funds and Grants
General Fund
Total Participation in Investments
Held by Fiduciary Truat Company of New York

Participation
Percentage

.9079

.4953
1.9884
1.2052

13.1992
.6244
.4905

1.673 1
.6596
.7812

18.6414
1.5733
1.1758
1.5563
.5702
.7012
.8714

1.22 10
1.5704
7.7650

.8 186
11.72 18

1.6722

.5458

.9350

.8893
16.9713

.4917

.3560
92.0725
7.9275

100.0000

Market Value

$36,447

19,884
79,819
48,382

529,857
25,066
19,690
67,165
26,480
31,358

748,322
63,156
47,200
62,473
22,891
28,150
34,979
49,013
63,042

311,713
32,859

470,548
67,125

21,909
37,532
35,700

681,282
19,737
14.292

3,696,071
318,237

$4,014,308
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Wka± do&c the’ AHA doftryow?

The AHA • Publishes the American Historical Review, now in its 104th year as the
premier journal in the field, and which is currently taking a leadership role in the

provides the electronic dissemination of history journals.
premier forums

• Develops and publishes a wide array of pamphlets on historical teaching and
for the research such as the Essays on Global and Comparative History, New American History,

dissemination and Teaching Diversity series, as well as valuable professional pamphlets including

of historical Careers for Students of History, Becoming a Historian, and Structuring the Past: The Use

scholarship and of Computing in History.

for the exchange of • Publishes Perspectives, rapidly evolving into a substantive newsmonthly for the

ideas and news historical profession, with features on active learning techniques, films, computers,
graduate programs, and history in the news.

about teachmg
• Organizes an annual meeting where more than 4 000 historians meet in nearly 240

and research. . . .

panels to discuss and debate the latest findings m historical research.

• Offers 23 book prizes and 5 awards for distinguished teaching and scholarship.

• Awards more than 100 grants to graduate students and junior faculty members for
research travel.

• Monitors state history curriculum standards and works vigorously to protest the The AHA

ones that fail to adequately articulate goals aimed at achieving excellence in teaching encourages

and learning through the National History Education Network, a collaboration of history teaching
postsecondary and K—12 professional groups and partnerships. and research

• Continues discussions with the 104 specialized historical organizations now affiliated through awards,
with the AHA, seeking ways to support each other’s professional interests. grants, and the

• Organizes conferences such as one on the use of part-time and adjunct teachers that romotion of
brought together 15 professional societies and higher education organizations, which p

designed and recommended standards and guidelines to ensure quality instruction networks and

and instructors’ equity. collaborations

• Publishes a Directory of History Departments and Organizations that provides in a single among
source the most comprehensive information about historians at universities, colleges, historians.
and other institutions.

• Provides timely information on a wide array of topics of concern to the profession
through its Institutional Services Program.

The AHA
• Continues to help widen access to the historical record through the Freedom of

works to protect Information Act and to improve the professional standards of federal employees and
the interests of contractors involved in historic preservation through the National Coordinating

historians as users Committee for the Promotion of History.

and producers of • Works with a wide range of actors in the world of scholarly communication to

intellectual ensure both fair use and equitable cost recovery measures to enable continuing
. dissemination of research.

materials.

Your dues and the AHA’s small endowment pay for these activities. Join the AHA (you
can now do so online at http://www.theaha.org) and allow us to expand the initiatives
and responsibilities that the AHA has undertaken to benefit the entire profession and to
ensure the prosperity of history in the United States.


